

(Myopathies, Cardiomyopathies and Neuromyopathies)

Vol. XL - December 2021

Official Journal of Mediterranean Society of Myology and Associazione Italiana di Miologia

Founders: Giovanni Nigro and Lucia Ines Comi

Three-monthly

EDITOR-IN-CHIEF Luisa Politano

ASSISTANT EDITOR Vincenzo Nigro

CO-EDITORS

Lefkos Middleton Giuseppe Novelli Reinhardt Rüdel Gabriele Siciliano Haluk Topaloglu Antonio Toscano





Established in 1982 as Cardiomyology

ACTA MYOLOGICA

(Myopathies, Cardiomyopathies and Neuromyopathies)

Official Journal of Mediterranean Society of Myology and Associazione Italiana di Miologia

Founders: Giovanni Nigro and Lucia Ines Comi

Three-monthly

SCIENTIFIC BOARD

Corrado Angelini, "San Camillo" Hospital, Venice, Italy Enrico Bertini, "Bambino Gesù" Hospital, Rome, Italy Serge Braun, AFM-Telethon, Paris, France Kevin P. Campbell, University of Iowa, Iowa City, USA Diana Conte, University of Bari, ASL Lecce, Italy Marinos Dalakas, University of Athens, Greece Feza Deymeer, University of Instanbul, Turkey Marianne de Visser, Amsterdam University Medical Centres, Amsterdam. The Netherlands Salvatore Di Mauro, Columbia University, New York, USA Denis Duboc, Cochin Hospital, Paris, France Victor Dubowitz, Imperial College, London, UK Massimiliano Filosto, University of Brescia, Italy Fayçal Hentati, University of Tunis, Tunisia Eric P. Hoffman, Binghamton University, State University of New York, Binghamton NY, USA Byron Kakulas, Perron Institute for Neurological and Translational Neuroscience, Perth, Western Australia, Australia Michelangelo Mancuso, University of Pisa, Italy Frank L. Mastaglia. Perron Institute for Neurological and Translational Science, Queen Elizabeth II Medical Centre, Nedlands, Western Australia, Australia Giovanni Meola, University of Milan, Italy Eugenio Mercuri, Catholic University, Rome, Italy Luciano Merlini, University of Bologna, Bologna, Italy Carlo Minetti, University of Genoa, Italy Clemens Muller, Julius-Maximilians-University, Würzburg, Germany Francesco Muntoni, University College London, UK

Carmen Navarro, University Hospital of Vigo, Spain Luis Negrao. University of Coimbra. Portugal Gerardo Nigro, University of Campania "L. Vanvitelli", Naples, Italy Anders Oldfors, University of Gothenburg, Sweden Orlando Paciello, University of Naples "Federico II", Naples, Italy Elena Pegoraro, University of Padua, Italy Heinz Reichmann, University Hospital, Technische Universität, Dresden, Germany Filippo Maria Santorelli, IRCCS Stella Maris, Pisa, Italy Serenella Servidei, Catholic University, Rome, Italy Piraye Serdaroglu, University of Instanbul, Turkey Yeuda Shapira, University of Jerusalem, Israel Osman I. Sinanovic, University of Tuzla, Bosnia and Herzegovina Michael Sinnreich, University of Basel, Switzerland Francesco Danilo Tiziano, Catholic University of Sacred Heart, Rome. Italv Edoardo Tizzano, Valle Hebron Research Institute (VHIR), Barcelona, Spain Bjarne Udd, University of Helsinki, Helsinki, Finland Andoni J. Urtizberea, AP-HP Marin Hospital, Hendaye, France Mariz Vainzof, University of São Paulo, São Paulo, Brazil Gert-Jan van Ommen, Leiden University Medical Center, the Netherlands Giuseppe Vita, Messina University Hospital, Messina, Italy Steve Wilton, University of Western Australia, Perth, Australia Massimo Zeviani, University of Cambridge, UK Janez Zidar, University Medical Centre, Liubliana, Slovenia





EDITOR-IN-CHIEF

Luisa Politano, Cardiomyology and Medical Genetics -Dept. of Experimental Medicine, University of Campania "L.Vanvitelli" - Piazza Miraglia - 80138 Naples, IT Tel. +39 081 5665300 Fax +39 081 5665101 actamyologica@gmail.com luisa.politano@unicampania.it

ASSISTANT EDITOR

Vincenzo Nigro, University of Campania, "L. Vanvitelli", Naples, IT - vinnigro@gmail.com

EDITORIAL STAFF

Chiara Fiorillo, G. Gaslini Hospital, Genoa, IT Lorenzo Maggi, Besta Neurological Institute, Milan, IT Giulia Ricci, University of Pisa, Pisa, IT Lucia Ruggiero, University of Naples "Federico II", Naples, IT Vincenzo Russo, University of Campania, "L. Vanvitelli", Naples, IT

BOARD OF THE MEDITERRANEAN SOCIETY OF MYOLOGY

V. Nigro, President

H. Topaloglu, Past President

L.T. Middleton, G. Siciliano, Vice Presidents

K. Christodoulou, Secretary

L. Politano, Treasurer

E. Abdel-Salam, M. Dalakas, F. Deymeer, F. Hentati, G. Meola, Y. Shapira, E. Tizzano, A. Toscano, J. Zidar

Co-opted Members: V. Askanas, S. Di Mauro, R. Rüdel

Acta Myologica publishes 4 issues per year in March, June, September, December. The Journal is available in OPEN ACCESS at: www.actamyologica.it

Acta Myologica is cited in Index Medicus, PubMed/MedLine, Scopus, Open-J Gate, Free Medical Journals, Socolar. The Journal is available on PubMed Central (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/journals/1221/).

Journal Citation Reports: SJR 2019 0.616; SNIP 2019 0.818 Acta Myologica is available on Google Scholar

All correspondence should be addressed to:

Mediterranean Society of Myology - Cardiomyology and Medical Genetics - Primo Policlinico - Piazza Miraglia - 80138 Naples, Italy - Tel. +39 081 566 5300 - Fax +39 081 566 5101.

Luisa Politano, via Ferrarecce 57, 81100 Caserta, Italy; email: actamyologica2@gmail.com

Tribunal Authorization, Napoli N. 3827, January 10, 1989 - Journal registered at "Registro pubblico degli Operatori della Comunicazione" (Pacini Editore srl registration n. 6269 - 29/8/2001).

The editor remains at the complete disposal of those with rights whom it was impossible to contact, and for any omissions. © Copyright by Gaetano Conte Academy - Mediterranean Society of Myology. All rights reserved.

The Journal and the individual contributions contained in it are protected by the copyright of Mediterranean Society and the following terms and conditions apply to their use. Photocopies, for personal use (for reading, consultation and study purposes), are permitted within the limits of 15% of each volume or journal issue, excluding advertising, by payment to SIAE of the charge due, in compliance with current regulations on copyright (Law 633, 1941), and specific authorization in writing from CLEARedi: https://www.clearedi.org/topmenu/HOME.aspx.

Publisher



Via A. Gherardesca - 56121 Pisa, Italy

Published by Pacini Editore Srl, Pisa, Italy, December 2021

COPY EDITOR

Valentina Bàrberi vbarberi@pacinieditore.it

CO-EDITORS

Lefkos Middleton, Imperial College London, London, UK Giuseppe Novelli, University of Tor Vergata, Rome, IT Reinhardt Rüdel, Ulm University, Ulm, DE Gabriele Siciliano, University of Pisa, Pisa, IT Haluk Topaloglu, University of Hacettepe, Ankara, TR Antonio Toscano, University of Messina, Messina, IT

CONTENTS

ORIGINAL ARTICLES

AUTOMA: a wearable device to assess the upper limb muscular activity in patients with neuromuscular disorders Mario Milazzo, Andrea Spezzaneve, Guja Astrea, Francesca Giorgolo, Alessandro Tonacci, Francesco Sansone, Marco Calderisi, the Ingene Group, Raffaele Conte, Filippo M. Santorelli, Stefano Roccella	143
RETRACTED - Can symptomatic nmDuchenne carriers benefit from treatment with ataluren? Results of 193-month follow-up Amir Dori, Michela Guglieri, Marianna Scutifero, Antonio Trabacca, Luisa Politano	152
Magnetic resonance imaging pattern variability in dysferlinopathy Sergey N. Bardakov, Vadim A. Tsargush, Pierre G. Carlier, Sergey S. Nikitin, Sergey A. Kurbatov, Angelina A. Titova, Zoya R. Umakhanova, Patimat G. Akhmedova, Raisat M. Magomedova, Igor S. Zheleznyak, Alexander A. Emelyantsev, Ekaterina N. Berezhnaya, Ivan A.Yakovlev, Roman V. Deev, Artur A. Isaev	158
How to define and enhance diagnostic and assistance pathways in neuromuscular diseases during the COVID-19 pandemic: the concept of network Guja Astrea, Gemma Marinella, Caterina Agosto, Delia Gagliardi, Marina Grandis, Maria Giuliano, Luisa Politano	172
CASE REPORTS	
BAG3-related myofibrillar myopathy: a further observation with cardiomyopathy at onset in pediatric age Gaia Scarpini, Maria Lucia Valentino, Melania Giannotta, Luca Ragni, Annalaura Torella, Marta Columbaro, Vincenzo Nigro, Antonella Pini	177
Early treatment with Ataluren of a 2-year-old boy with nonsense mutation Duchenne dystrophy Ilaria Bitetti, Cinzia Mautone, Marianna Bertella, Maria Rosaria Manna, Antonio Varone	184
NEWS FROM AROUND THE WORLD	
AIM MSM WMS	187 187 187
FORTHCOMING MEETINGS	188
Volume XL - LIST OF REFEREES CONSULTED in 2021	190
Instructions for Authors	191

AUTOMA: a wearable device to assess the upper limb muscular

activity in patients with neuromuscular disorders

Mario Milazzo^{1*}, Andrea Spezzaneve^{1*}, Guja Astrea², Francesca Giorgolo³, Alessandro Tonacci⁴, Francesco Sansone⁴, Marco Calderisi³, the Ingene Group, Raffaele Conte⁴, Filippo M. Santorelli², Stefano Roccella¹

¹ The BioRobotics Institute, Scuola Superiore Sant'Anna, Pontedera (PI), Italy; ² IRCCS Fondazione Stella Maris, Calambrone (PI), Italy; ³ Kode s.r.l., Pisa, Italy; ⁴ Institute of Clinical Physiology, National Research Council of Italy (CNR), Pisa, Italy

*These authors equally contributed

ORIGINAL ARTICLES

Inherited muscular dystrophies and congenital myopathies present in early childhood with progressive muscle weakness, determining severe motor limitations. Active surveillance and management of associated complications have improved ambulation, function, quality of life and life expectancy. The need for repeatable, objective and quantitative measures to monitor the clinical course of the disease is a current issue, particularly in the new era where new flows of therapies are proposed to the patients. In this scenario, we designed and tested a wearable device termed AUTOMA that is able to provide quantification of the muscular impairment in the upper limb upon isokinetic tests through the integration of a force sensor and an electric goniometer. This allows qualitatively estimating the muscular functions with a systematic procedure. We carried out a preliminary pilot study on 9 patients that revealed the suitability of AUTOMA as an objective measurement tool for diagnosing and monitoring neuromuscular disorders, and opens to a more extensive clinical study in which to test and validate our platform intensively.

Key words: neuromuscular disorders, wearable devices, upper limb function, sensing, clinical monitoring, rehabilitation

Introduction

Neuromuscular disorders (NMDs) are a group of rare genetic diseases that induce a progressive disability in patients by affecting the muscular functionality. Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy (DMD) is one of such diseases that affects 1 in 3500 new-borns ¹. This idiopathic progressive pathology affects muscles from early life, threatening the ability to walk, to perform daily tasks with upper limbs, and inducing severe failures of the cardio-respiratory apparatus thus limiting life expectancy. Individuals with Becker muscular Dystrophy (BMD) have a more variable presentation and may continue to walk well into their fourth decade or later with a variable and partially unknown natural history.

Received: October 27, 2021 Accepted: December 12, 2021

Correspondence Mario Milazzo The BioRobotics Institute, Scuola Superiore Sant'Anna, Viale Rinaldo Piaggio 34, 56025 Pontedera (PI), Italy E-mail: mario.milazzo@santannapisa.it

How to cite this article: Milazzo M, Spezzaneve A, Astrea G, et al. AUTOMA: a wearable device to assess the upper limb muscular activity in patients with neuromuscular disorders. Acta Myol 2021;40:143-151. https://doi.org/10.36185/2532-1900-057

© Gaetano Conte Academy - Mediterranean Society of Myology



This is an open access article distributed in accordance with the CC-BY-NC-ND (Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International) license. The article can be used by giving appropriate credit and mentioning the license, but only for non-commercial purposes and only in the original version. For further information: https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/deed.en

Improved standards of care and the regular early-use of steroid treatments in DMD have changed the natural history of the disease, affecting both survival and time of loss of functional milestones ^{2,3}. More recently, there has been an increasing evidence of an additional benefit from new therapeutic approaches based on mechanisms targeting specific types of mutation ^{1,4}. To monitor the effect of such a therapy and to study the natural history of these young patients, over the last few years there has been an increasing attention to the identification of suitable outcome measures for clinical trials. At first, clinical research has focused on ambulant children only but, more recently, many studies have been carried out to reduce the existing gap in identifying suitable measurements for assessing upper limb functions across all stages of the disease.

In 2012, an international group of clinicians, physical therapists, patients, advocacy groups and industries developed the so-called Performance of the Upper Limb (PUL), a functional scale, based on scores awarded by operators, specifically designed for assessing upper limb function in DMD or BMD ⁵. Meanwhile, a correlation was demonstrated between muscle strength and motor function among children and in the adult population ⁶. An example of such score-based method is given by the Medical Research Council (MRC) index. This parameter ranges from 0 – no appreciable muscular contraction – to 5 – full muscular strength (normal power). The numerical value is subjectively assigned after detecting the muscular strength upon the application of a manual concentrated load on the limb 7. However, is important to consider that the relationship between muscle strength and functionality is not linear. In general, upper limb functions become increasingly influenced by weakness in conjunction with contractures and/or growth, resulting in compensatory strategies and, ultimately, loss of function.

Finally, while several efforts have been made to identify outcome measures for DMD, other NMDs are still orphaned of functional measures and, there are still no measures capable of evaluating motor impairments of the upper limb in daily life. In fact, none of the routine rating scales captures the progressive muscle weakness representing the entire spectrum of the disease, in particular for patients at the weak end of the spectrum with low gross motor functions.

To overcome those limits, a large body of research has been carried out to develop equipment and devices able to perform motor tests, also in weak patients ⁸.

However, several limitations still exist in the use of such devices: i) a high level of subjectivity in the assessment of tests; ii) biased/incidental errors in positioning the devices on soft tissues of the patient (e.g., incorrect perpendicularity of the tools with respect to the directionality of the loads); iii) high footprint and invasiveness of isokinetic platforms for assessing force; iv) limited naturalness of the gesture ^{9,10}.

In our work, we present the design and preliminary validation of a wearable mechatronic device named AU-TOMA. Such a device is able to quantitatively assess upper-limb muscle strength upon quasi-static isokinetic loads and simultaneous determination of range of movements (ROMs) and motor functionality. This is a first step towards the definition of a set of wearables, non-invasive instruments to monitor DMD and, more broadly, NMDs.

Materials and methods

Hardware

AUTOMA is conceived as a measurement tool to be worn by a patient and to be used by the therapist to evaluate in real time the impairment level of the upper limb muscles upon quasi-static loads.

Figure 1 reports the hardware parts that compose AU-TOMA (Fig. 1A): i) two sensorized units (Fig. 1B1 and 1B2) to classify the typology of the limb movements and to measure the relative angle between the arm and the forearm; ii) a thermoformed polymeric bracelet to measure the external force applied by the therapist to the patient (Fig. 1C1 and 1C2) during the manual muscle test; iii) a wearable elbow sleeve or a shawl made of a washable material (e.g., lycra) on which the components are assembled to avoid a direct contact with the skin and to ensure a safe and comfortable wearability (Fig. 1D and 1E).

In detail, each sensorized unit is composed of a shell containing one endblock of a biaxial electro-goniometer SG150 (Biometrics Ltd, Newport, UK), and the predisposition for a 9-axis inertial platform ADATEC (Fig. 1B2) - for the classification of the upper limb movement but not implemented in the present study. The bracelet, fabricated in stereolithographic resin and thermoplastic polymer (Aquaplast[®]), shown in Figure 1C1-C2, serves as a holder for a uniaxial load cell FX1901-0001-0010 (Measurement Specialties Inc., Hampton, VA, USA). To improve comfort and to avoid a slippery direct contact between the polymeric structure and the elbow sleeve, we applied an internal coating made of polyurethane.

A first calibration of the sensors was performed on a bench by testing the loading cell and the electro-goniometer with calibrated weights applied by means of a dedicated indentation machine (Fig. 2A) and with a manual goniometer commonly used by therapists (Fig. 2B), respectively. In the first case, the calibration shows high linearity (error ~ 2%), while the angular resolution reaches values of 4°-5° due to the analogic/digital conversion (Fig. 2C). The correct donning of the device was checked



Figure 1. AUTOMA: hardware components. Panel A. 3D CAD model of AUTOMA composed of an elastic sleeve (in blue) and two types of sensors (a – electro-goniometer case; b – force sensor). Panels B1-B2: case for the electro-goniometer (I) and for the addition of a potential inertial unit - IMU (II) (not used for the validation in this study). Panels B3: Biometrics electro-goniometer SG150 model. Panels C1-C2: case (bracelet) for the force sensor (III) with an internal coating of polyurethane (IV) to assure comfort and to prevent slippage between the bracelet and the sleeve. Panel D. The complete system assembled on a dummy including the box containing the electronics. Panel E: AUTOMA worn by a subject: the bracelet was placed close to the wrist as specified by MMTs protocols implemented in the experiments.



Figure 2. Calibrating AUTOMA. Panel A. Indentation machine. Panel B. Manual goniometer used by therapists. Panel C. Calibration curve. The red dots resemble the check-points for the calibration.

before the clinical trial. Within this phase, the electro-goniometer calibration was verified by means of a manual goniometer with AUTOMA already worn by the subject.

Software

Within the project developed, we implemented a platform named Health 360 to collect clinical data from AUTOMA and other sources. Health360 possesses a web-based modular architecture provided by a Software-as-a-Service (SaaS) model ¹¹. Data from AUTOMA can be embedded into Health360 in two manners, in both

cases via communication through Application Programming Interface (API). The first approach, less computationally burdensome, relies on the communication of off-line previously analysed data; the second approach, computationally heavier, foresees the possibility of hosting data processing algorithms directly on the platform, therefore communicating raw data between AUTOMA and Health360. In both cases, Health360 will then merge data from AUTOMA with those from other sources, making them easy to be processed by Machine Learning algorithms and similar approaches. Data collected with

Mario Milazzo et al.

AUTOMA were processed using the R software (R Development Core Team) and later visualized using MAT-LAB (MathWorks, Inc., USA).

This will ultimately allow clinicians to collect, manage, and store data in the Cloud from tests that involve analogic and digital devices. Further details can be found in literature ¹².

Pilot study in patients

We enrolled 9 subjects with neuromuscular issues (4 DMD patients, 3 BMD patients and 2 patients with a myopathic disorder, all males, age ranged 8-24 years) homogenously distributed across the MRC scale considering the upper limb performance. After being informed about AUTOMA and the procedures involved in the experimental design, patients provided a written consent to participate in the research program. With ethical approval (protocol 136/17, Tuscany Region Ethics Committee), the study took place at IRCCS Stella Maris Foundation (Pisa, Italy) and it was performed by professional therapists. Protocols included a first assignment of the PUL scores for the upper limb functionality and, using AUTOMA, the assessment through two specific items of the manual muscle test (MMT), namely MMT9 and MMT10, related to the extension and flexion of the elbow. Those exercises were independently evaluated by two operators and were repeated five times for each evaluator in a same session.

For each item, each trial was composed of three steps:

- first, the registration system is enabled with the operator supporting the subject's upper limb in the initial position without applying force on the load cell of the bracelet (time = 2 s);
- then, an isokinetic limb movement (to reduce force measurement artefacts due to inertial loads) was performed in elbow extension / flexion against operator resistance on the load cell, up to the patient's maximum range of motion for 2 s;

brought to the initial position and the test repeated from point i.

Figure 3 depicts the phases of the tests on a subject. Compatibly with the patient's state of fatigue, both items were performed with 5 repetitions.

Data analysis

The experimentation and the analysis that follows focus on data recorded with the AUTOMA electro-goniometer and the load cell, while IMUs have not been preliminarily implemented since we decided to use these sensors in a future study, too, being AUTOMA designed to include them.

For each test, raw sensors signals have been initially processed using the R software off-line to identify the time interval in which the actual movement, and thus the force peak of interest, occurs. The data cleaning process consists of excluding force values below the threshold of 100 g (a threshold selected to exclude any accidental contact with the load cell), and then focusing on the angle signal vs time to select the interval in which test trend is similar to isokinetic trends as much as possible. Angle vs. time curves were firstly smoothed to estimate their first derivative. After that, we deemed the movements start when the angle first derivative respect to time falls over a selected threshold value of +25/-25 °/ ms for MMT10 and MMT9, respectively. Finally, a linear regression model with time as the regressor was then elaborated in order to evaluate the angle vs time curve linearity, a benchmark meaning that the movement occurred uniformly and the test was isokinetic: when the R2 was greater than, or equal to, 0.8 the acquisition was considered adequately filtered, otherwise the acquisition was discarded (Fig. 4).

Results

In this paper, we discuss the development of AUTO-



Figure 3. Isokinetic tests. Panels A to C show three different steps of the test with AUTOMA and the simultaneous data collection.

• after the completion of the test, the upper limb was



Figure 4. Gathering data with AUTOMA. Panel A. Using AUTOMA to perform MMT10. Panel B. Example of the acquisitions, showing the raw measured Force (g), raw angular displacement (degrees - °) and, in the bottom panel, the smoothed angle curve after filtering the signal (yellow line) and the first derivative of the smoothed signal. Note. Dashed lines are in correspondence of the first and the last Force numerical value above 100 g. Solid horizontal lines represent the bounds (+25/-25 °/ms) for the smoothed Angle derivative values. Solid vertical lines represent the first and the last value where the Angle derivative crosses the thresholds.

MA, a wearable device to assess the impairment level of the upper limb in patients with neuromuscular disorders.

We selected 9 patients with NMDs, previously classified with MRC scores of arms between 2 and 4, who agreed to participate to a pilot study designed to assess the capabilities of AUTOMA. We selected two specific tasks, namely the flexion and extension of the elbow (MMT9 and MMT10), to assess the muscular performance of the subjects, previously scored using PUL test. Following the criteria set by the experimental protocol, we had to discard part of the collected data (14% for MMT9 and 27% for MMT10), being not sufficiently linear, thus remodeling the structure of the dataset. Moreover, concerning MMT10, two subjects were not able to perform the MMT10 task due to their conditions and, therefore, were excluded from the statistical analysis. The final dataset is reported in Table I, where we also outline the average score assigned by the operators upon the items F to L (regarding elbow movements) of the PUL tests carried out

Table I. Number of patients available for each disease severity level, ranging from 2 to 4 in the MRC scale and average PUL score for the upper limb tasks.

ММТ	M	RC sco	re	Number of patients
item	2	3	4	examined
MMT10	0	4	3	7
MMT9	1	5	3	9
Average				
PUL				
score	17/34	32/34	34/34	-

Note. The average PUL score is not given for the patients with myopathy since the PUL test is not standardized test for such a disorder.

before using AUTOMA. It is worth noting that the PUL score was not assigned to the 2 patients with myopathy since such a test is not standardized for this disorder.

Once the peak-force and mean angular velocity values were collected, they were compared across different levels of disease severity. Normality and homoscedasticity assumptions for both force and mean angular velocity were verified using Shapiro and Levene tests, respectively, separately for each disease severity and item (Tabs. II-III). Homoscedasticity assumption was accepted in all the cases at 5% significance level, but the Normality assumption was rejected in some disease severity groups for the mean angular velocity at 5% significance level. Thus, in order to perform comparisons across disease levels concerning the force, we used the ANOVA analysis that rejected the null hypothesis of no difference between different disease levels with an F value of 41.9 on 2 and 70 degrees of freedom (p-value 1.09e-12) and 61.59 on 1

Table II. Shapiro-Wilk normality test p-values.

MMT itom	Index	N	IRC scale	•
	muex	2	3	4
MMTO	Force	0.583	0.400	0.241
IVIIVI I 9	Angular velocity	0.0376	0.00572	0.446
	Force	-	0.316	0.184
	Angular velocity	-	0.00215	0.362

Table III. Levene homoskedasticity test p-values.

Index	MM19	MMT10
Force	0.583	0.400
Angular velocity	0.0376	0.00572



Figure 5. Whisker plots for the Force (Panel A) and the Mean Angular Velocity (Panel B) for each item in relation to the MRC.

Table IV. Results table of Tukey's method of honestly significant differences adjusted with the Bonferroni method for the force index in MMT9.

Linear hypothesis	Estimate	Std. error	t-value	Pr(> t)
MRC 2 - MRC 4 = 0	-1816.2	219.5	-8.276	1.70e-11
MRC 3 - MRC 4 = 0	-1137.8	150.7	-7.551	3.67e-10
MRC 3 - MRC 2 = 0	678.5	193.7	3.503	2.42e-03

and 49 degrees of freedom (p-value 3.27e-10) for MMT9 and MMT10, respectively. Conversely, concerning the non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis rank sum test for the angular velocities, we accepted the null hypothesis of no difference (significance at 5%) between disease levels with a chi-squared value of 0.019, with 1 degree of freedom (p-value 0.89) for MMT10, and rejected it with a chi-squared value of 14.645 with 2 degrees of freedom (p-value 6.61e-04) for MMT9.

Since the MMT9 presents three distinct disease severity levels and both the ANOVA and the Kruskal-Wallis rank sum test highlighted significant (at 5% significance level) differences between groups, post-hoc tests were carried out using the Tukey's method with the Bonferroni correction and the Mann-Whitney test, respectively (Tabs. IV-V). All the post-hoc tests rejected the hypothe
 Table V. Results table of Mann-Whitney test for angular velocity in MMT 9.

Hypothesis tested (True location shift is not equal to 0)	W	p-value
MRC 2 vs MRC 3	383	2.5e-05
MRC 2 vs MRC 4	118	2.5e-02
MRC 3 vs MRC 4	312	0.19

sis (significance at 5%) of equality of mean/location shift of each disease severity group, except for the comparison between groups 3 and 4 for the mean angular velocity (see Figure 5).

The ANOVA/Kruskal-Wallis and post-hoc tests results, along with the plots in Figure 5, show a significant stratification of the force levels reached by the patients with different disease severity, but not a significant difference between the angular velocities related to the movement.

Discussion

AUTOMA is a device that belongs to the family of non-invasive platforms for collecting biophysical parameters. To date, a number of studies have been published demonstrating the capability of sensing systems of providing reliable datasets about signals like tongue muscle activity ¹³, blood pressure ¹⁴, presence of glucose in blood ¹⁵, heart rate ¹⁶, or sweat monitoring ¹⁷. Novel hardware designs, along with the advent of artificial intelligence and cloud computing, have brought new opportunities for clinicians and operators to quantitatively diagnose and monitor diseases, giving new quantitative data cleaned from any subjective evaluation of biophysical parameters ¹⁸. From a rehabilitation standpoint, such new approaches can lead to a paradigm change. In fact, by integrating these advanced and, often interactive, technologies, it is possible to create a renewed patient-specific awareness on the physiological conditions and, if applicable, to easy teach specific behavioral changes with low costs and intrusion ¹⁹.

Recently, Molina-Molina et al. published a work about a wearable system to perform surface electromyography to assess muscle activity. Their platform includes surface electrodes and a mobile computing to perform a cloud data analysis. Similar to AUTOMA, the authors carried out the experimental campaign by performing a set of isokinetic tests, thus minimizing the inertial artifacts. In contrast to AUTOMA that requires an elastic sleeve without a direct contact with the skin, their system requires a specific preparation of the muscle surface (e.g., shaved skin, cleaning with alcohol) that can affect the collection and reliability of the measurements. In addition, while AUTOMA has been preliminarily tested against traditional approaches for monitoring DMDs, Molina-Molina et al. did not report any comparison with other datasets²⁰

The preliminary statistical analysis of the data collected with AUTOMA suggests that the device is capable of efficiently performing an objective quantification of muscle strength in the upper limb muscles. In particular, the plots reported in Figure 5 display a relationship between the peak force and the MRC scores, while they are not correlated with angular velocity. Therefore, we can conclude that the peak force can be considered an index for classification, independently of the numerical value of the angular velocity that is always kept constant (i.e., isokinetic test) by expert operators.

In view of this, AUTOMA is to be considered a sensorized tool that might assist clinicians to objectively detect the strength deficit and to monitor the evolution of all muscular pathologies including those, such as myopathies, for which PUL tests are not standardized. Thanks to its portability and to the integration of different sensors, AUTOMA could be considered easy to adapt in the clinical practice and can be customized directly onto the patient to optimize its ergonomic fit.

From the performance perspective, AUTOMA will enhance an unbiased evaluation of the health status of a patient, delivering a more precise classification of the disorder stages without discrepancies given by a subjective evaluation from different operators. Using such a device, clinicians will have the possibility to design customized therapies based on quantitative data that, as demonstrated, reflect and improve the outcomes from the subjective scores usually attributed by the operators to the patients.

Conclusions

In the last decade, research studies have focused on quantitative measures that describe disease progression in the upper limbs, from early ambulant stages over transition stages to non-ambulant stages. Such approaches can be useful to trace the course of muscle weakness and to allow a better understanding of disease evolution and efficacy of interventions throughout the lifespan²¹.

AUTOMA appears as a promising tool for monitoring NMDs from the early stages, since it is able to estimate, through a sensorized sleeve, variations of the muscle performance that could be difficult to discriminate manually based only on the experience of an operator. Moreover, being a simple and relatively cheap platform with low need for maintenance, AUTOMA could truly integrate the currently available bulky platforms, with the possibility to be easily transported and also used as a point-ofcare solution for an in-home monitoring of NMDs.

From a technical standpoint, next steps include the addition of IMUs to better discriminate the angular displacements and to classify movement and fix the limitations observed in the present study. Such a methodology will include the implementation of wireless force/angular sensors to optimize portability and to increase the number of measured joints, together with the integration of other sensors (i.e., EMG, ECG, PZT Respiration) to monitor other key physiological parameters. Concerning the clinical side, we plan to start a new recruitment campaign with a larger number of patients in order to collect more data to stress the device and to perform a more robust statistical analysis, also including a correlation with the PUL scores.

Authors' information

The Ingene Group is made of the following research-

Mario Milazzo et al.

ers: Andrea Vannini¹, Roberto Lazzarini¹, Eleonora Dati², Silvia Frosini², Anna Rubegni², Gianluca Diodato³, Anna Paola Pala⁴, Maria Cristina Scudellari⁴

¹ The BioRobotics Institute, Scuola Superiore Sant'Anna, Pontedera (PI), Italy; ² IRCCS Fondazione Stella Maris, Calambrone (PI), Italy; ³Institute of Clinical Physiology, National Research Council of Italy (CNR), Pisa, Italy

Ethical consideration

All tests were carried out following an explicit ethical approval (protocol 136/17, Tuscany Region Ethics Committee).

Acknowledgement

None.

Funding

This work was supported by InGene Project - Bando PAR FAS 2007-2013, Regione Toscana (Italy). This work was conducted within the research project InGene 2.0. In-Gene 2.0 is funded by Tuscany Region under the Bando Ricerca e Salute 2018 Programme.

Conflict of interest

All the authors declare no conflict of interest.

Author contributions

All Authors gave their approval.

References

- ¹ Mendell JR, Shilling C, Leslie ND, et al. Evidence-based path to newborn screening for Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Ann Neurol 2012;71:304-313. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.23528
- ² Bushby K, Finkel R, Birnkrant DJ, et al. Diagnosis and management of Duchenne muscular dystrophy, part 1: diagnosis, and pharmacological and psychosocial management. Lancet Neurol 2010;9:77-93. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(09)70271-6
- ³ Bushby K, Finkel R, Birnkrant DJ, et al. Diagnosis and management of Duchenne muscular dystrophy, part 2: implementation of multidisciplinary care. Lancet Neurol 2010;9:177-189. https://doi. org/10.1016/S1474-4422(09)70272-8
- ⁴ McDonald CM, Campbell C, Torricelli RE, et al. Ataluren in patients with nonsense mutation Duchenne muscular dystrophy (ACT DMD): a multicentre, randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 3 trial. Lancet 2017;390:1489-1498. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0140-6736(17)31611-2
- ⁵ Mayhew A, Mazzone ES, Eagle M, et al. Development of the Performance of the Upper Limb module for Duchenne muscular

dystrophy. Dev Med Child Neurol 2013;55:1038-1045. https://doi. org/10.1111/dmcn.12213

- ⁶ Pangalila R, Bartels B, Bergen M, et al. Upper limb function in adults with Duchenne muscular dystrophy. J Rehabil Med 2011;43:770-7755. https://doi.org/10.2340/16501977-0841
- ⁷ Hough CL, Lieu BK, Caldwell ES. Manual muscle strength testing of critically ill patients: feasibility and interobserver agreement. Crit Care 2011;15:R43. https://doi.org/10.1186/cc10005
- ⁸ Gotthelf M, Townsend D, Durfee W. A video game based hand grip system for measuring muscle force in children. J Neuroeng Rehabil 2021;18:1-15. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12984-021-00908-1
- ⁹ Aramaki H, Katoh M, Hiiragi Y, et al. Validity and reliability of isometric muscle strength measurements of hip abduction and abduction with external hip rotation in a bent-hip position using a handheld dynamometer with a belt. J Phys Ther Sci 2016;28:2123-2127. https://doi.org/10.1589/jpts.28.2123
- ¹⁰ Feiring DC, Ellenbecker TS, Derscheid GL. Test-retest reliability of the Biodex isokinetic dynamometer. J Orthop Sport Phys Ther 1990;11:298-300. https://doi.org/10.2519/jospt.1990.11.7.298
- ¹¹ Sun W, Zhang K, Chen S-K, et al. Software as a service: an integration perspective. International Conference on Service-Oriented Computing 2007:558-569. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-540-74974-5_52
- ¹² Conte R, Tonacci A, Sansone F, et al. NeuroExam: a tool for neurological examination in neuromuscular diseases. 2019 IEEE 23rd International Symposium on Consumer Technologies (ISCT), 2019, pp. 5-10. https://doi.org/10.1109/ISCE.2019.8901045
- ¹³ Milazzo M, Panepinto A, Sabatini AM, et al. Tongue rehabilitation device for dysphagic patients. Sensors 2019;19:4657. https://doi. org/10.3390/s19214657
- ¹⁴ Luo H, Yang D, Barszczyk A, et al. Smartphone-based blood pressure measurement using transdermal optical imaging technology. Circ Cardiovasc Imaging 2019;12:e008857. https://doi. org/10.1161/CIRCIMAGING.119.008857
- ¹⁵ Tura A. Noninvasive glycaemia monitoring: background, traditional findings, and novelties in the recent clinical trials. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care 2008;11:607-612. https://doi.org/10.1097/ MCO.0b013e328309ec3a
- ¹⁶ Rachim VP, Chung W-Y. Wearable-band type visible-near infrared optical biosensor for non-invasive blood glucose monitoring. Sensors Actuators B Chem 2019;286:173-180. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.snb.2019.01.121
- ¹⁷ Lee YK, Jang K-I, Ma Y, et al. Chemical sensing systems that utilize soft electronics on thin elastomeric substrates with open cellular designs. Adv Funct Mater 2017;27:1605476. https://doi.org/10.1002/ adfm.201605476
- ¹⁸ De Fazio R, De Vittorio M, Visconti P. Innovative IoT solutions and wearable sensing systems for monitoring human biophysical parameters: a review. Electronics 2021;10:1660. https://doi. org/10.3390/electronics10141660

- ¹⁹ Santos OC. Training the body: the potential of AIED to support personalized motor skills learning. Int J Artif Intell Educ 2016;26:730– 55. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40593-016-0103-2
- ²⁰ Molina-Molina A, Ruiz-Malagón EJ, Carrillo-Pérez F, et al. Validation of mDurance, A Wearable surface electromyography sys-
- tem for muscle activity assessment. Front Physiol 2020;11:1556. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2020.606287
- ²¹ Melo FCM, de Lima KKF, Silveira APKF, et al. Physical training and upper-limb strength of people with paraplegia: a systematic review. J Sport Rehabil 2019;28:288-293. https://doi.org/10.1123/ jsr.2017-0062

ACTA MYOLOGICA 2021; XL: p. 152-157 doi:10.36185/2532-1900-058

Can symptomatic nmDuchenne carriers benefit from treatment with ataluren? Results of 193-month follow-up

Amir Dori¹, Michela Guglieri², Marianna Scutifero³, Luigia Passamano³, Antonio Trabacca⁴, Luisa Politano^{3,5}

¹ Department of Neurology, Talpiot Medical Leadership Program, Chaim Sheba Medical Center, Tel HaShomer, and Joseph Sagol Neuroscience Center, Sackler Faculty of Medicine, Tel Aviv University, Tel Aviv, Israel; ² John Walton Muscular Dystrophy Research Centre, Newcastle University, United Kingdom; ³ Cardiomyology and Medical Genetics, University of Campania "Luigi Vanvitelli", Naples, Italy; ⁴ Unit for serious disabilities of developmental and young adult age, Developmental Neurology and Neurorehabilitation, IRCCS "E. Medea" - "Our Family" Association, Brindisi, Italy; ⁵ "G. Torre" Association for Muscular Dystrophies Research Unit, Naples, Italy

Duchenne's muscular dystrophy (DMD) is an X-linked neuromuscular disorder caused by deletions (75%), duplications (15-20%) and point mutations (5-10%) in the dystrophin gene. Among the latter, stop-codon point mutations are rare. Female carriers of dystrophin gene mutations are usually asymptomatic as they are "protected" by the second X-chromosome, which produces a normal dystrophin protein. However, about 8-10% of them can present symptoms that set the clinical picture of the manifesting or symptomatic carrier. Although no causative cure there is for DMD, therapies are available to slow the decline of muscle weakness and delay the onset of heart and respiratory involvement. However, there is limited data in the literature documenting the treatment of symptomatic carriers, often entrusted to the sensitivity of individual doctors. In this paper, we report the follow-up outcomes of four European symptomatic nmD-MD carriers treated with ataluren, overall followed for 193 months. Annual assessment of muscle strength, pulmonary lung function tests, and echocardiography, indicate a mild attenuation of disease progression under treatment.. There were no adverse clinical effects or relevant abnormalities in routine laboratory tests. We can conclude that ataluren appears to stabilize, if not slightly improve, the clinical course of patients with a good safety profile, especially if we consider that the treatment was late for 3/4 patients, at a mean age of 36.6 ± 10.6 years.

Key words: Duchenne muscular dystrophy, nonsense mutations, symptomatic carriers, manifesting carriers; ataluren

Introduction

This is an open access article distributed in accordance with the CC-BY-NC-ND (Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International) license. The article can be used by giving appropriate credit and mentioning the license, but only for non-commercial purposes and only in the original version. For further information: https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/deed.en Duchenne's muscular dystrophy (DMD) is an X-linked neuromuscular disorder affecting muscles and heart in young boys ^{1,2}, caused by deletions (75%), duplications (15-20%) and point mutations (5-10%) in the dystrophin gene. Among the latter, the stop codon point mutations are rare ^{3,4}.

Females carrying a dystrophin gene mutation on one of the two Xchromosomes, are usually asymptomatic as they are "protected" by the

Received: October 27, 2021 Accepted: December 12, 2021

Correspondence Luisa Politano Associazione Centro Gaetano Torre per Le Malattie Muscolari Unità di Ricerca via C. Guerra 10 Marano di

Muscolari, Unità di Ricerca, via C. Guerra 10, Marano di Napoli, (NA) Italy. E-mail: poli3295@gmail.com

How to cite this article: Dori A, Guglieri M, Scutifero M, et al. Can symptomatic nmDuchenne carriers benefit from treatment with ataluren? Results of 193-month follow-up. Acta Myol 2021;40:152-157. https://doi.org/10.36185/2532-1900-058

© Gaetano Conte Academy - Mediterranean Society of Myology

OPEN ACCESS

second X-chromosome which products a normal dystrophin protein. However, about 8-10% of these females can present symptoms, which causes the clinical picture of the manifesting or symptomatic carrier. Both terms have been widely used since the 1970s 5-12 to define females with a history of Duchenne muscular dystrophy in their pedigree who have symptomatic weakness. These females can also develop myalgia, cramps, fatigue, and show enlarged calf muscles (pseudo-hypertrophy). The severity of symptoms may range from a Duchenne-like progression to a very mild Becker-like phenotype. A considerable percentage of carriers may develop cardiomyopathy, at an advanced stage ¹³⁻¹⁵. Cognitive impairment was also reported, mainly associated with mutations in the distal part of the DMD gene ^{16,17}. An increase in serum creatine kinase (CK) levels up to ten times the upper normal limit was reported in approximately 40-50% of carriers, especially in childhood ^{18,19}. Several mechanisms leading to reduced dystrophin production, were hypothesized to explain the onset of clinical manifestations and in particular the role played by the skewed X-chromosome inactivation (XCI). Though this role is still questioned, several papers ²⁰⁻²² showed that DMD-manifesting carriers have a preferential inactivation of the X-chromosome carrying the normal allele, while non-manifesting carriers and healthy females showed a random (50:50) XCI pattern.

From a clinical point of view, symptomatic carriers should be considered as affected as males with disease are, and be able to benefit from the same therapeutic opportunities.

There is no causative cure for DMD, but therapies are available to slow the decline of muscle weakness and delay the onset of heart and respiratory involvement. Among others, steroids, ACE-inhibitors and beta-blockers, are the gold standard of the treatment ^{23,24}. However, in the literature there is limited data documenting treatment of symptomatic carriers ^{25,26}, often entrusted to the sensitivity of individual doctors.

In the last decade, different therapeutic approaches have been tested with encouraging results in patients with dystrophin gene deletions or duplications. Among them we mention gene therapy (which consists of introducing a transgene coding for full-length or a truncated version of dystrophin complementary DNA (cDNA) in muscles)²⁷, and exon-skipping techniques with antisense oligonucle-otides which convert an out-of-frame mutation into an in-frame mutation ²⁸. For DMD patients having stop co-don mutations in the *DMD* gene ⁴, potential drugs such as gentamicin²⁹ and ataluren (PTC124) ³⁰ were explored as an alternative approach. These drugs allow ribosomal readthrough of premature stop codons, enabling the production of a functional dystrophin that might ameliorate the disease progression ^{30,31}. About 10-15% of DMD pa-

tients could potentially benefit from treatment with ataluren ³¹. This drug has been available in Europe since 2014 ³² under the name (Translarna[®]).

In 2017, McDonald and al. ³³ presented the results of a phase 3, multicentre, randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial (ACT DMD) that assessed the ability of ataluren to stabilise ambulation, with a focus on a prespecified subgroup of patients with ambulatory decline. The primary endpoint of change in 6-min walk distance (6MWD) from baseline to week 48, with a hypothesis of a difference of at least 30m between ataluren-treated and placebo-treated patients, was not reached (difference 13.0 m [SE 10.4], 95% CI -7.4 to 33.4; p = 0.213). However, a benefit of ataluren was observed in the subgroup of patients with a baseline 6MWD between 300 and 400 m (difference vs placebo 42.9m [SE 15.9], 95% CI 11.8-74.0; p = 0.007) and confirmed in papers that appeared in subsequent years ³⁴⁻³⁶.

Articles recently published on the long-term ataluren treatment indicated a delay in loss of ambulation, as well effects on cardiac and respiratory parameters and upper limb motor function, even after loss of ambulation ^{37,38}. An early treatment with ataluren has also been suggested ³⁹. The response to the treatment with ataluren was investigated by D'Ambrosio et al. ⁴⁰ in a 26-year-old symptomatic nmDMD female carrier who reported an improvement in motor skills after 9 months of treatment.

In this paper we report the follow-up outcomes of the patient described by D'Ambrosio et al., still on treatment with ataluren, together with those of three further European symptomatic nmDMD carriers overall followed for 193 months (average 48.25).

Patients and methods

Clinical data of the four European DMD carriers so far treated with ataluren were retrospectively collected and included country's origin of female patients, age at first symptoms, age at muscle biopsy, time between first symptoms and muscle biopsy, age at genetic confirmation, time between first symptoms and laboratory abnormality or genetic confirmation. Age at first and last visit for ataluren, age at informed consent, prior and concomitant medications, age at start- and end-date of ataluren, duration of treatment, age at loss of ambulation were also collected. Motor function outcomes such as six minute walking test (6MWT), North Star Ambulatory Assessment (NSAA) total score, dynamic tests (Gowers time, time to climb 4 steps) were evaluated at the start and at the last visit; data on forced vital capacity (FVC) and left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF) were also evaluated when available.

The drug was administered orally, at a dosage according to the weight of the patients. Data are shown as mean, range and standard deviation when applicable.

Results

Baseline patient demographics & characteristics

Demographics and characteristics of symptomatic nmDMD carriers treated with ataluren are shown in Table I. Two patients are from Italy, one from Israel and one from UK. The age of onset of the first symptoms was before 2 years in two, and at 17 and 30 years in the other 2 carriers. Muscle biopsy was performed in three carriers, immediately after the onset of symptoms in two, 4 years after the onset of symptoms in the third carrier. The mean time between the onset of symptoms and muscle biopsy was 1.3 years, ranging from 0 to 4 years. The mean age, at the molecular confirmation of the diagnosis, was 21, ranging from 3 to 38 years. The two carriers with onset of symptoms in childhood were on deflazacort, antioxidants, calcium and vitamin D3 treatment, which they continued to take concomitantly with ataluren.

The mean age at the first visit for ataluren was 26.9 (range 9.6-43 years); the start date of ataluren was between May 2015 and November 2017. All patients were under treatment at the time of last visit. The mean age at last visit was 30.7, ranging from 13 to 49 years. The average follow-up period was 48.25 months, ranging from 23 to 77, for an overall period of 193 months. During the follow-up, one patient stopped to walk after 6 years of starting treatment, at the age of 49. Another carrier is still able to walk with a waddling gait and lumbar hyperlordosis, but with a search for support. The other two carriers are still able to walk independently.

Motor function tests

6MWT was performed at the first visit in 3/4 patients, showing a mean value of 262 ± 10.47 m, but it

was available for only one patient (217 m) at last visit. In the older carrier, an initial improvement under treatment was observed in 6MWT, passing from 270 up to 315m and followed by a gradual decline. NSAA total score was available at the first visit in two patients, showing a mean score of 22/34 which passed to 23.5/34 at the last visit. The time to get up from the floor, an ability present in 2/4 patients, changed from an average value of 8.95 sec at the first visit to 11.5sec at the last visit.

The percentage mean values of FVC passed from 89.7 ± 24.3 to 76.3 ± 20.4 , with an annual average decline of 3.3%. The EF values, available in 2/4 carriers, varied on average from 65.5 to 61%, with an annual decline of 1.1% (Tab. II).

Discussion

By definition, the term 'carrier' refers to someone who has a heterozygous mutation in his/her DNA, without presenting the symptoms related to the disease.

The prevalence of skeletal muscle damage among Duchenne female carriers, including asymptomatic carriers is estimated to be between 2.5-19%, and the incidence of dilated cardiomyopathy between 7.3-16.7% ^{13,14,16,41}. Viggiano et al. ²¹ observed that DMD carriers with moderate/severe muscle involvement exhibit a moderate or extremely skewed XCI, in particular if presenting with an early onset of symptoms, while carriers with mild muscle involvement present a random XCI. Moreover, when comparing muscle with heart manifesting carriers, the former group showed a higher degree of skewing ^{21,22}.

The frequency of manifesting carriers complicated by cardiomyopathy increases with age ^{13,16,41} and studies begin to appear on how and when to best treat these patients ^{26,42}. However, there is limited high-quality evidence to guide the treatment of female carriers of Duchenne / Becker muscular dystrophy. The available evidence is

Reference Center	Current age (years)	Age at first symptoms (years)	Age at mus- clebiopsy (years)	Time be- tween first symptoms and mus- clebiopsy (years)	Age at genetic con- firmation ofnmDMD (years)	Time be- tween MB and genetic confirma- tion (years)	Time be- tween first symptoms and genetic confirmation (years)
IT001	30	1.6	1.6	0	24	22	25
UK001	13	< 2	2.6	0.3	3	0.5	1
IL001	49	30	n.p.	n.ap	38	n.ap.	8
IT002	31	17	21	4	21	0.5	0,5
Mn	30.75	16.2	8.4	1.43	21.5	7.67	8.63
Range	13-49	1.6-30	1.6-21	0-4	3-38	0.5-22	0.5-25

Table I. Demographics of symptomatic nmDMD carriers treated with ataluren

Abbreviations: MB: Muscle Biopsy; n.p.: not performed; n.a.: not applicable

		Percentage ejection fraction at	ataluren end	date (or last	visit)	58	n.a.	n.p.	64	61.00	
	Per- centage	ejection frac- tionat	ataluren	start	Date	65	n.a.	n.p.	66	65.50	
	Per- centage	FVC at ataluren end	date	(or last	visit)	53	91	n.p.	85	76.33	
	Per-	centage FVC at ata-	luren	start	date	68	116	n.p.	85	89.67	
	Gowers	time at ataluren end	date	(or last	visit)	u.t.p.	2.7	u.t.p.	20.6	11.65	
		Gowers timeat ata-	luren	start	date	u.t.p.	2.5	u.t.p.	15.4	8.95	
	NSAA total score	at ataluren end	date (or	last	visit)	n.p.	32/34	n.p.	15/34	 3.5/34	
ren.	NSAA	total score at ata-	luren	start	date	n.p.	31/34	С	13/21	. ⁷ 34	L L L
with atalu	6MWD	at ataluren end	date	(or last	visit)	n	n.p.	u.t.p	217		
rs treated	6MWD	atata- luren start	date	(me-	ters)	100,00	n.a.	270.00	255.20	262.60	
MD carrie		Loss of	ambu-	lation	(years)	30		49		39.5	
natic nmD		Dura- tion of	treat-	ment	(years)	48	45	21	23	34.25	
lata of symptor				Ataluren	start date	01/10/2017	01/12/2017	01/05/2015	23/11/2019		
Clinical d		Age at first visit	(years)	forata-	luren	26	9.6	43	29	26.90	
Table II.			Refer-	ence	center	IT001	UK001	IL001	IT002	Mn	

58-64

65-66

53-91

68-116

2.5-15.0 2.7-20.6

321

31/34

unable to perfor

not available; u.t.p.:

not performed; n.a.:

... d

Abbreviations: n.e. not evaluable; n.

9.6-43

Range

100-270

30-49

21-48

mainly based on expert opinions and clinical experience.

Here, we report our experience in four symptomatic nmDMD female carriers treated with ataluren for 193 months overall. Routine investigations included muscle strength, dynamic tests, cardiac function and pulmonary function tests. We compared changes in 6MWT, Gower's time, FVC and LVEF at baseline and at the last visit from the start of ataluren. All patients were ambulant at the start of treatment, and two remained so at the last follow-up visit, after 48 and 45 months of treatment, respectively. Under ataluren, the annual assessment of muscle strength, pulmonary lung function tests, and echocardiography indicated a mild attenuation of the disease progression. No adverse clinical effects were reported by the patients nor relevant abnormalities observed in routine laboratory values.

We are aware that the study has the limitations of a retrospective study, which put together data collected spontaneously by researchers who wanted to test the efficacy of treatment with ataluren in nmDMD symptomatic carriers they had in care. The number of carriers treated may also seem too small, but we must remember that the estimated number of nmDMD patients is about 10-15% of the entire Duchenne population and that symptomatic carriers are an even smaller percentage.

Despite these limitations, we believe that ataluren has a good safety profile and stabilizes, if not slightly improves the clinical course of nmDMD female patients, in whom the treatment started much later than in affected males. However, larger clinical trials, and possibly on younger subjects are required to assess the role of ataluren and its long-term impact on disease progression in symptomatic nmDMD carriers.

Ethical consideration

The project was approved by the Ethical Committee of the University of Campania (Protocol number 769 of 23/11/2018).

Acknowledgement

We thank the patients and their families for collaboration.

The unconditional support for medical writer received by the Medical Affairs PTC Italia has been greatly appreciated.

Funding

None.

Conflict of interest

The Authors have no conflicts of interest to declare

Amir Dori et al.

that are relevant to the content of this article.

Author contributions

LP: conceptualization, methodology, writing original and draft preparation, writing review and editing, and supervision; AD, MG, MS, LPa, AT: investigation and data collection.

All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

References

- ¹ Carter JC, Sheehan DW, Prochoroff A, et al. Muscular dystrophies. Clin Chest Med 2018;39:377-389. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ccm.2018.01.004
- ² Kamdar F, Garry DJ. Dystrophin-deficient cardiomyopathy. J Am Coll Cardiol 2016;67:2533-2546. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jacc.2016.02.081
- ³ Monaco AP. Dystrophin, the protein product of the Duchenne/Becker muscular dystrophy gene. Trends Biochem Sci 1989;14:412-415. https://doi.org/10.1016/0968-0004(89)90290-9
- ⁴ Aartsma-Rus A, Ginjaar IB, Bushby K. The importance of genetic diagnosis for Duchenne muscular dystrophy. J Med Genet 2016;53:145-151. https://doi.org/10.1136/jmedgenet-2015-103387
- ⁵ Moser H, Emery AE. The manifesting carrier in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Clin Genet 1974;5:271-284. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1399-0004.1974.tb01694.x
- ⁶ Norman A, Harper P. A survey of manifesting carriers of Duchenne and Becker muscular dystrophy in Wales. Clin Genet 1989;36:31-37. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-0004.1989.tb03363.x
- ⁷ Barkhaus PE, Gilchrist JM. Duchenne muscular dystrophy manifesting carriers. Arch Neurol 1989;46:673-675. https://doi. org/10.1001/archneur.1989.00520420093029
- ⁸ Giliberto F, Radic CP, Luce L, et al. Symptomatic female carriers of Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD): genetic and clinical characterization. J Neurol Sci 2014;336:36-41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jns.2013.09.036
- ⁹ Imbornoni L, Price ET, Andrews J, et al. Diagnostic and clinical characteristics of early-manifesting females with Duchenne or Becker muscular dystrophy. Am J Med Genet A 2014;164A:2769-2774. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.a.36728
- ¹⁰ Lee SH, Lee JH, Lee KA, et al. Clinical and genetic characterization of female dystrophinopathy. J Clin Neurol 2015;11:248-251. https://doi.org/10.3988/jcn.2015.11.3.248
- ¹¹ Zhong J, Xie Y, Bhandari V, et al. Clinical and genetic characteristics of female dystrophinopathy carriers. Mol Med Rep 2019;19:3035-3044. https://doi.org/10.3892/mmr.2019.9982
- ¹² Cruzeiro MM, Vale TC, Marrone CD. Symptomatic female carriers of mutations in the Duchenne muscular dystrophy gene. Arq Neuropsiquiatr 2020;78:598-599. https://doi. org/10.1590/0004-282X20200061

- ³ Politano L, Nigro V, Nigro G, et al. Development of cardiomyopathy in female carriers of Duchenne and Becker muscular dystrophies. JAMA 1996;275:1335-1338. PMID: 8614119.
- ¹⁴ Florian A, Rösch S, Bietenbeck M, et al. Cardiac involvement in female Duchenne and Becker muscular dystrophy carriers in comparison to their first-degree male relatives: a comparative cardiovascular magnetic resonance study. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging 2016;17:326-333. https://doi.org/10.1093/ehjci/jev161
- ¹⁵ Adachi K, Hashiguchi S, Saito M, et al. Detection and management of cardiomyopathy in female dystrophinopathy carriers. J Neurol Sci 2018;386:74-80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jns.2017.12.024
- ¹⁶ Mercier S, Toutain A, Toussaint A, Genetic and clinical specificity of 26 symptomatic carriers for dystrophinopathies at pediatric age. Eur J Hum Genet 2013;21:855-863. https://doi.org/10.1038/ ejhg.2012.269
- ¹⁷ Papa R, Madia F, Bartolomeo D, et al. Genetic and early clinical manifestations of females heterozygous for Duchenne/Becker muscular dystrophy. Pediatr Neurol 2016;55:58-63. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.pediatrneurol.2015.11.004
- ⁸ Percy ME, Andrews DF, Thompson MW. Serum creatine kinase in the detection of Duchenne muscular dystrophy carriers: effects of season and multiple testing. Muscle Nerve 1982;5:58-64. https:// doi.org/10.1002/mus.880050111
- ¹⁹ Zhang J, Meng Q, Zhong J, et al. Serum MyomiRs as biomarkers for female carriers of Duchenne/Becker muscular dystrophy. Front Neurol 2020;11:563609. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fneur.2020.563609
- ²⁰ Juan-Mateu J, Rodríguez MJ, Nascimento A, et al. Prognostic value of X-chromosome inactivation in symptomatic female carriers of dystrophinopathy. Orphanet J Rare Dis 2012;7:82. https://doi. org/10.1186/1750-1172-7-82
- ²¹ Viggiano E, Ergoli M, Picillo E, et al. Determining the role of skewed X-chromosome inactivation in developing muscle symptoms in carriers of Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Hum Genet 2016;135:685-698. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00439-016-1666-6
- ²² Viggiano E, Picillo E, Cirillo A, et al. Comparison of X-chromosome inactivation in Duchenne muscle/myocardium-manifesting carriers, non-manifesting carriers and related daughters. Clin Genet 2013;84:265-270. https://doi.org/10.1111/cge.12048
- ²³ Bushby K, Muntoni F, Urtizberea A, et al. Report on the 124th ENMC International Workshop. Treatment of Duchenne muscular dystrophy; defining the gold standards of management in the use of corticosteroids. 2-4 April 2004, Naarden, The Netherlands. Neuromuscul Disord 2004;14:526-534. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. nmd.2004.05.006
- ²⁴ Bushby K, Finkel R, Birnkrant DJ, et al. Diagnosis and management of Duchenne muscular dystrophy, part 2: implementation of multidisciplinary care. Lancet Neurol 2010;9:177-189. https://doi. org/10.1016/S1474-4422(09)70272-8

Can symptomatic nmDuchenne carriers benefit from treatment with ataluren? Results of 193-month follow-up

- ²⁵ Hogrel JY, Zagnoli F, Canal A, et al. Assessment of a symptomatic Duchenne muscular dystrophy carrier 20 years after myoblast transplantation from her asymptomatic identical twin sister. Neuromuscul Disord 2013;23:575-579. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. nmd.2013.04.007
- ²⁶ D'Amario D, Gowran A, Canonico F, et al. Dystrophin cardiomyopathies: clinical management, molecular pathogenesis and evolution towards precision medicine. J Clin Med 2018;7:291. https:// doi.org/10.3390/jcm7090291
- ²⁷ Chamberlain JR, Chamberlain JS. Progress toward gene therapy for Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Mol Ther 2017;25:1125-1131. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymthe.2017.02.019
- ²⁸ Wood MJ. To skip or not to skip: that is the question for Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Mol Ther 2013;21:2131-2132. https://doi. org/10.1038/mt.2013.252
- ²⁹ Politano L, Nigro G, Nigro V, et al. Gentamicin administration in Duchenne patients with premature stop codon. Preliminary results. Acta Myol 2003;22:15-21. PMID: 12966700.
- ³⁰ Finkel RS. Read-through strategies for suppression of nonsense mutations in Duchenne/ Becker muscular dystrophy: aminoglycosides and ataluren (PTC124). J Child Neurol 2010;25:1158-1164. https://doi.org/10.1177/0883073810371129
- ³¹ Howard MT, Shirts BH, Petros LM et al. Sequence specificity of aminoglycoside-induced stop condon readthrough: potential implications for treatment of Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Ann. Neurol 2000;48:164-169.
- ³² PTC Therapeutics. PTC Therapeutics receives conditional approval in the European Union for Translarna for the treatment of nonsense mutation Duchenne muscular dystrophy, 2014 (http://ir.ptcbio.com/ releasedetail.cfm?releaseid=863914).
- ³³ McDonald CM, Campbell C, Torricelli RE, et al. Ataluren in patients with nonsense mutation Duchenne muscular dystrophy (ACT DMD): a multicentre, randomised, double-blind, placebocontrolled, phase 3 trial. Lancet 2017;390:1489-1498. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0140-6736(17)31611-2
- ³⁴ Campbell C, Barohn RJ, Bertini E, et al. Meta-analyses of ataluren randomized controlled trials in nonsense mutation Duchenne

muscular dystrophy. J Comp Eff Res 2020;9:973-984. https://doi. org/10.2217/cer-2020-0095

- ³⁵ Michorowska S. Ataluren-promising therapeutic premature termination codon readthrough frontrunner. Pharmaceuticals (Basel) 2021;14:785. https://doi.org/10.3390/ph14080785
- ³⁶ Mercuri E, Muntoni F, Osorio AN, et al. Safety and effectiveness of ataluren: comparison of results from the STRIDE Registry and CINRG DMD Natural History Study. J Comp Eff Res 2020;9:341-360. https://doi.org/10.2217/cer-2019-0171
- ³⁷ Michael E, Sofou K, Wahlgren L, et al. Long-term treatment with ataluren. The Swedish experience. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 2021;22:837. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12891-021-04700-z
- ³⁸ Ebrahimi-Fakhari D, Dillmann U, Flotats-Bastardas M, et al. Offlabel use of ataluren in four non-ambulatory patients with nonsense mutation Duchenne muscular dystrophy: effects on cardiac and pulmonary function and muscle strength. Front Pediatr 2018;6:316. https://doi.org/10.3389/fped.2018.00316
 - Ruggiero L, Iodice R, Esposito M, et al. One-year follow up of three Italian patients with Duchenne muscular dystrophy treated with ataluren: is earlier better? Ther Adv Neurol Disord 2018;11:1756286418809588. https://doi. org/10.1177/1756286418809588
- ⁴⁰ D'Ambrosio P, Orsini C, Nigro V, et al. Therapeutic approach with ataluren in Duchenne symptomatic carriers with nonsense mutations in dystrophin gene. Results of a 9-month follow-up in a case report. Acta Myol 2018;37:272-274. PMID: 30944907
- ¹ Ishizaki M, Kobayashi M, Adachi K, et al. Female dystrophinopathy: review of current literature. Neuromuscul Disord 2018;28:572-581. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nmd.2018.04.005
- ⁴² Lim KRQ, Sheri N, Nguyen Q, et al. Cardiac Involvement in Dystrophin-deficient females: current understanding and implications for the treatment of dystrophinopathies. Genes (Basel) 2020;117:765. https://doi.org/10.3390/genes11070765

Magnetic resonance imaging pattern variability in dysferlinopathy

Sergey N. Bardakov¹, Vadim A. Tsargush¹, Pierre G. Carlier², Sergey S. Nikitin³, Sergey A. Kurbatov^{4,5}, Angelina A. Titova⁶, Zoya R. Umakhanova⁷, Patimat G. Akhmedova⁷, Raisat M. Magomedova⁷, Igor S. Zheleznyak¹, Alexander A. Emelyantsev¹, Ekaterina N. Berezhnaya^{8,9}, Ivan A. Yakovlev¹⁰, Artur A. Isaev¹⁰, Roman V. Deev^{9,10}

¹ S.M. Kirov Military Medical Academy, Petersburg, Russia; ² CEA, Frédéric Joliot Institute for Life Sciences, SHFJ, Orsay, France; ³ Research Centre for Medical Genetics, Moscow, Russia; ⁴ Research Institute of Experimental Biology and Medicine, Voronezh N.N. Burdenko State Medical University, Voronezh, Russia; ⁵ Semantic Hub, Moscow, Russia; ⁶ Kazan (Volga Region) Federal University, Kazan, Russia; ⁷ Dagestan State Medical University, Makhachkala, Russia; ⁸ CBO "I-MIO Project", Russia; ⁹ North-Western State Medical University named after I.I. Mechnikov, St. Petersburg, Russia; ¹⁰ Human Stem Cell Institute, Moscow, Russia

The widespread use of magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) in the diagnosis of myopathies has made it possible to clarify the typical MRI pattern of dysferlinopathy. However, sufficient attention has not been given to the variability of MRI patterns in dysferlinopathy.

Materials and methods. Twenty-five patients with the clinical manifestations of dysferlinopathy were examined. For all patients, creatine phosphokinase levels were measured and molecular genetics were examined. In two patients, immunohistochemical examinations of muscle biopsies were performed. MRI scanning was included T2 multi-slice multi-echo, T1 weighted, T2 weighted and Short Tau Inversion Recovery T2 weighted sequences. Quantitative and semi-quantitative evaluations of fatty replacement and swelling of the muscles were undertaken.

Results. Variability in the MRI patterns was lowest in the pelvis and leg muscles and highest in the thigh muscles. Three main types of MRI patterns were distinguished: posterior-dominant (80%), anterior-dominant (16%), and diffuse (4%). Among patients with the anterior-dominant pattern, the collagen-like variant (4%), proximal variant (4%) and pseudo-myositis (8%) were separately distinguished.

Conclusions. Awareness of atypical MRI patterns in dysferlinopathy is important for increasing the efficiency of routine diagnostics and optimizing the search for causative gene mutations.

Key words: dysferlinopathy, LGMDR2, LGMD2B, Miyoshi myopathy, MRI pattern, T2-MSME

Abbreviations: MRI: magnetic resonance imaging; T2-MSME: T2 multi-slice multiecho; STIR, Short Tau Inversion Recovery; LGMDR2: limb-girdle muscle dystrophy R2; MRC: Medical Research Council; CK: serum creatine phosphokinase; DMAT: distal, with anterior tibial onset; (MDS: Muscular Dystrophy Score; SE: spin echo; Me: median; M: mean; CD: cluster of differentiation; TE: echo time; TR: repetition time; FOV: field-of-view; FF: fat fraction.

Received: October 20, 2021 Accepted: December 12, 2021

Correspondence Sergey N. Bardakov

Department of Nephrology and Blood Purification, Department of Neurology, S.M. Kirov Military Medical Academy, 6 Lebedeva str., 194044, St. Petersburg, Russia. Tel.: +7 911 033 65 41; Fax.: n/a. E-mail: epistaxis@mail.ru

How to cite this article: Bardakov SN, Tsargush VA, Carlier PG, et al. Magnetic resonance imaging pattern variability in dysferlinopathy. Acta Myol 2021;40:158-171. https://doi.org/10.36185/2532-1900-059

© Gaetano Conte Academy - Mediterranean Society of Myology



This is an open access article distributed in accordance with the CC-BY-NC-ND (Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International) license. The article can be used by giving appropriate credit and mentioning the license, but only for non-commercial purposes and only in the original version. For further information: https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/deed.en

Introduction

Dysferlinopathy refers to a phenotypically heterogeneous group of hereditary muscular dystrophies caused by mutations in the *DYSF* gene (2p13), which encodes the transmembrane protein dysferlin (230 kDa) that is involved in the repair of muscle membranes ¹. Five main phenotypes are distinguishable: Miyoshi distal myopathy (OMIM# 254130), limb-girdle muscular dystrophy R2 (LGMD R2, OMIM# 253601); distal myopathy of the anterior lower leg (distal, with anterior tibial onset (DMAT, OMIM# 606768); proximal-distal form (a transitional form), asymptomatic hypercreatinephosphokinasemia ^{2,3} and congenital phenotype ⁴.

Increasing the diagnostic efficiency of dysferlinopathy can be achieved through a comprehensive analysis of clinical manifestations, as well as information concerning typical and rare magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) patterns for the distribution of fatty infiltration of muscles. The predominant involvement of the posterior and medial thigh muscle groups, the soleus muscle, and the medial and lateral head of the gastrocnemius has been described in previous publications 5-7. One characteristic of dysferlinopathy is the development of edema prior to fatty replacement in the quadriceps femoris, the adductor magnus, and the posterior muscles of the thigh ^{8,9}. However, there are a limited number of reports suggesting high heterogeneity of MRI patterns in dysferlinopathy^{10,11}. Hence, a more systematic description of the anatomical distribution of muscle wasting in dysferlinopathy, which has been analyzed in relation to clinical and molecular genetic investigations, would refine our understanding of disease pathology and improve diagnostic ability. Therefore, the purpose of the study was to determine the range of possible variants associated with the MRI patterns of the distribution of fatty infiltration of muscles in a cohort of Russian dysferlinopathy patients.

Materials and methods

Patients

We examined twenty-five patients from a Russian cohort that consisted of twelve Avars, nine Russians, two Azerbaijanis, one Tatar, and one Kalmyk with dysferlinopathy. There were sixteen men 64% (95% Confidence interval (CI) 42-82) and nine women 36% (CI 18-57). Assessments of each patient's clinical status was carried out using the Vignos scale ¹² and Muscular Dystrophy Score (MDS) ¹³. Manual assessment of muscle strength was measured using the ordinal Medical Research Council (MRC) scale. A control group of twenty healthy volunteers (eleven men 55% (CI 31-76) and nine women 45% (CI 23-68) whose average age was (*Me*) 31 years (CI 21-40) was also included. All patients signed a voluntary, informed consent form in accordance with the requirements of the 2013 Helsinki Declaration and the local ethics committee of the Military Medical Academy S.M. Kirov (Russia) (protocol # 219, 12/02/2020).

Laboratory studies

The examination of patients included clinical and genealogical analyses, neurological examinations, electromyography, and laboratory diagnostic methods including measurements of serum creatine phosphokinase (CK). Molecular genetic studies of DNA samples were undertaken using next generation sequencing on an Illumina HiSeq 2000 platform (Illumina Inc., San Diego, CA). Confirmation of the results was performed via Sanger sequencing.

Histological and pathomorphological analysis

Open-incision muscle biopsies were performed in three patients for confirming pathogenic of mutations. A fragment (5x5x5 mm) of the lateral part of the quadriceps femoris was taken and prepared according to standard procedure. Longitudinal and transverse sections of the samples were stained with hematoxylin and eosin, and immunohistochemistry was performed using antibodies to dysferlin, dystrophin, smooth muscle alpha actin, Ki67, CD68, CD4, and CD8.

Immunoelectrophoresis and western blotting

Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis and western blotting were performed as described previously ¹⁴. All tissue samples were weighed, frozen and homogenized in 19 volume electrophoresis treatment buffer (e.g., 20 mg + 380 μ l buffer) and given a loading concentration of approximately 2 mg in 30 μ l volume ¹⁵.

Magnetic resonance imaging of the pelvic girdle and lower extremities

MRI scanning was performed from the anterior, superior, iliac spine to the lower third of the legs on an Ingenia 1.5T tomograph (Philips Healthcare, Eindhoven, Netherlands) using a body surface receiver coil. The protocol included T2-multi-slice multi-echo (T2 MSME), T1 weighted (T1w), T2 weighted (T2w) and Short Tau Inversion Recovery T2 weighted (STIR T2w) pulse sequences. The following are the acquisition parameters for:

 T1w spin echo (SE) in the axial and coronal planes: echo time (TE) = 10 ms, repetition time (TR) = 600 ms, number of repetitions = 1, tilt angle = 90°, refocus angle = 120°, field-of-view (FOV) = 450 × 450 mm², pixel size 0.6 × 0, 6 mm², number of slices = 30, slice gap = 10 mm, slice thickness = 10 mm;

- Axial T2w SE: TE = 80 ms, TR = 500 ms, number of repetitions = 1, tilt angle = 90°, refocus angle = 120°, FOV = 450 × 450 mm², pixel size 0.6 × 0.6 mm², number of slices = 30, distance between slices = 10 mm, thickness of slices = 10 mm;
- STIR T2w SE in the axial and sagittal planes: TE = 70 ms, TR = 4000 ms, number of repetitions = 1, tilt angle = 90°, refocus angle = 120°, FOV = 450 × 450 mm², pixel size 0.8 × 0.8 mm², number of slices = 30, distance between slices = 10 mm, thickness of slices = 10 mm;
- T2 MSME in the axial plane: TE in the range from 8 to 160 ms with a delta of 8 ms, TR = 2500 ms, number of repetitions = 1, tilt angle = 90°, refocus angle = 180°, FOV = 400 × 400 mm², size pixel 0.7 × 0.7 mm², number of slices = 10, distance between slices = 10 mm, thickness of the slices = 10 mm.

Image analysis

A quantitative assessment was carried out using a three-exponential calculation method with a division into water and fat signals from each muscle, according to the formula ¹⁶:

$$S(TE) = A_f \left[c_l. exp\left(-\frac{TE}{T2_{fl}} \right) + c_s. \exp\left(-\frac{TE}{T2_{fs}} \right) \right] + A_m \left[exp\left(-\frac{TE}{T2_m} \right) \right]$$

where S (TE) is the signal for a given echo time; TE is the echo time; T2*fl* is the long relaxation time of the fatty component; T2*fs* is the short relaxation time of the fat component; T2m is the relaxation time of the water component in the muscle; *Af* is the coefficient reflecting the proportion of fat in the signal; *Am* is the coefficient reflecting the proportion of water in the signal; and *cl* and *cs* are the long and short coefficients of the bi-exponential fat model, respectively. To calculate the bi-exponential model of the fatty component in skeletal muscles, a separate segmentation of the subcutaneous fat was carried out.

The fat fraction (FF) was calculated as the ratio between the fat signal and the sum of the water and fat signals at TE = 0 ms. Based on the model presented in the above equation, this was determined by the formula:

$$FF = \frac{A_f(c_l + c_s)}{A_f(c_l + c_s) + A_m}$$

Mathematical analysis of the data was carried out using Python v.2.7.15 software. Segmentation of the muscles of the thighs and lower legs was performed manually using ITK-SNAP 3.8.0 software ¹⁷. Fatty degenerative changes were scored semi-quantitatively according to the Lamminen-Mercuri scale ¹⁸.

160

Statistical analysis

The quantitative results of the study are presented as mean (*M*) or median (*Me*) values with 95% confidence intervals (calculated via the Klopper-Pearson method) depending on whether the data were normally distributed. Statistical significance was evaluated using the Mann-Whitney sign-rank test (p < 0.05).

Results

Clinical and genetic data

The age of the patients at the time of the examination was (Me) 37 years (CI 31-43) and average disease duration was 10 years (CI 5-11). Miyoshi myopathy was diagnosed in 11/25 patients 44% (CI 24-65) and was characterized by the primary involvement of the calf muscles (atrophy, difficulty standing in socks, and contracture of the Achilles tendon). The LGMD phenotype was found in 14/25 - 56% (CI 34-76) of cases, with weakness of the proximal muscles of the lower extremities as the main clinical feature. The level of CK activity was 4547 U/L (CI 1204-8011). The functional status on the MDS was 32 points (CI 22-34), and the functional class according to Vignos was 2. Null homozygous or compound heterozygous mutations were detected in 9/25 - 36% (CI 18-57) of the cases, while in 16/25 - 64% (CI 42-82) of the cases at least one missense mutation was detected.

Magnetic resonance imaging characteristics of muscle fatty replacement

When assessing the frequency of involvement of the thigh and lower leg muscles in the myodystrophic process, fatty replacements of grade 1 or more was systematically observed in the semimembranosus, semitendinosus, gluteus minimus, tensor fasciae latae, and adductor magnus (100%) muscles in all patients. In these muscles, the highest degree of fatty replacement was most commonly found in the tensor fasciae latae (grade 4, 50%), gluteus minimus (grade 4, 26.4%), and semimembranosus (grade 4, 16.7%). Less often, fatty replacement was present in the gracilis (61.1%), obturator internus (64.7%), and the adductor brevis (66.7%).

In the calves, fatty replacement of grade 1 or higher was present in the soleus (100%), the medial head of the gastrocnemius (97.1%), the lateral head of the gastrocnemius (94.1%), and the peroneus longus (94.1%) muscles. Grade 4 fatty replacement was observed in the soleus (34.3%) and medial head of the gastrocnemius (32.4%) muscles. More rarely, the popliteus muscle was involved (17.6%). Muscles that were more severely affected by fatty replacement included the hamstring and adductor muscles of the thighs (Fig. 1).



Figure 1. Fatty replacement in the pelvis, thigh, and lower leg muscles of patients with limb-girdle muscular dystrophy recessive type 2, n = 25 (a, thigh muscles; b, lower leg muscles). The fatty degenerative changes were scored according to the Lamminen-Mercuri scale. The colors indicate the grades of the Lamminen-Mercuri scale, presented as a stacked bar chart. Average magnetic resonance imaging distribution pattern of fatty replacement in limb-girdle muscular dystrophy recessive type 2 muscles (scoring according to Lamminen-Mercuri) in the mid thigh (C) and mid calf muscles (D).

In the pelvic muscles, edema was most often observed in the gluteus maximus (48%), obturator externus, gluteus medius, and obturator internus muscles. Maximum edema severity was characteristic in the gluteus maximus and medius muscles and was minimal (and less common) in the muscles that experienced early onset fatty infiltration (i.e., the tensor fasciae latae and gluteus minimus) (Fig. 2).

Patients with LGMD recessive type 2 (R2) presented with edema in most of the thigh muscles, with the exception of the tensor fasciae latae, semitendinosus, and semimembranosus due to earlier and more pronounced fatty infiltrations of these muscles. Edema was most pronounced in the muscles of the anterior thigh group (the rectus femoris and the vastus lateralis, intermedius and medialis), which was quantified by water T2 relaxation time (MSME). Through visual assessment (STIR), edema was also frequently observed in the anterior thigh muscle group including the vastus lateralis (81.5%), intermedius (70.4%), and medialis (59.3%); sartorius (51.9%); long head of the biceps femoris (51.9%); and the gluteus maximus (48.3%). Edema was less frequently observed in the gluteus minimus, tensor fasciae latae (7.4%), semimembranosus, and semitendinosus (11.1%) muscles.

In the lower legs, edema was detected in the popliteus, the flexor hallucis longus, and the extensor digitorum longus muscles. STIR-T2w visual assessment uncovered frequently occurring edema in the extensor digitorum longus (59.3%), tibialis anterior (48.1%), tibialis posterior (37%), and flexor digitorum longus (37%) muscles. Edema was rarely seen in the gastrocnemius (Fig. 2).

The severity and distribution of fatty replacement in the pelvic girdle showed little variability, with the gluteus minimus muscle being the most frequently affected. In the thigh muscles, it was possible to distinguish in this study three main MRI patterns of fatty replacement: posterior dominant; anterior-dominant and diffuse. However, other rarer anterior-dominant presentation, was also ob-



Figure 2. The frequency and severity of edema in the muscles of the thighs (A) and lower legs (B) in patients with limb-girdle muscular dystrophy recessive type 2, n = 25.

served such as the collagen-like anterior-dominant MRI pattern and the proximal variant. The pseudo-myositis pattern is a separate variant observed at the onset of dys-ferlinopathy (Tab. I).

Cases illustrating atypical MRI patterns in dysferlinopathy

Patient 1

A 47-year-old female first manifested the disease at 23 years of age with calf muscle atrophy. This was followed by difficulty in standing on the toes and an inability to run by the age of 25. At 30 years of age she began to notice weakness of the hip muscles when climbing stairs. Muscle strength was reduced in the anterior group of the thigh muscles. Extension of the lower leg was at 3/5 (MRC scale), flexion of the thigh was at 4/5, and in the calf muscles (flexion at the ankle joint) was 4/5. Achilles tendon contractures were observed up to 95°. The phenotype was Miyoshi myopathy at the grade 3 level on the Vignos scale, or 30 points according to the MDS. The CK level was 2573 U/L. A mutation was found in the *DYSF* c.5884C > T gene; p. (Gln1962*) in the homozygous state.

In the thigh, an atypically predominant involvement of the quadriceps (FF up to 85-90%) was noteworthy when compared with the muscles of the posterior and medial groups (FF of 10-55%) (Fig. 3). The typical preservation of the rectus femoris (60%) compared to the vastus lateralis, medialis and intermedius (FF up to 85-90%) was observed. In the posterior muscle group, the long head of the biceps femoris (FF up to 80%) was more affected than the short head (FF up to 43%), with significant asymmetry (FF up to 45% on the right and 80% on the left). The semimembranosus (FF of 35%) and semitendinosus (FF of 20%) muscles were less affected, and no edema was detected in these muscles. In the leg muscles, a typical pattern was observed with predominant involvement of the soleus and both heads of the gastrocnemius (FF up to 90%) that is characteristic of most dysferlinopathy patients. However, the tibialis anterior (FF up to 86%) was more affected than the peronei (FF up to 40%), which is in contrast to the typical pattern (Fig. 3).

Patient 2

The disease manifested in a 45-year-old female as

MRI pattern	Description	Number of cases
Posterior-dominant	Predominant fatty replacement of posterior thigh muscles	20/25 - 80% (Cl 59-93)
Anterior-dominant	Predominant fatty replacement of the quadriceps femoris muscle	4/25 - 16% (Cl 5-36)
Collagen-like anterior-	Peripheral fatty replacement in the vastus lateralis, medialis and	
dominant	intermedius muscles and a central lesion in the rectus femoris	1/25 - 4% (Cl 0.1-20)
Proximal variant	Severe damage to the thigh muscles, with minimal involvement of the	
anterior-dominant	lower leg muscles	1/25 - 4% (Cl 0.1-20)
Pseudo-myositis	Edema according to STIR without or minimal fat replacement on T1w	2/25 - 8% (Cl 1-26)
	Mild / or moderate diffuse infiltration of the anterior and posterior	
Diffuse	thigh muscle groups equally	1/25 - 4% (Cl 0.1-20)

Table I. MRI patterns of dysferlinopathy.



Figure 3. MRI (T1, Short Tau Inversion Recovery (STIR)) of the muscles of the pelvic girdle, thighs and legs of patient 1 with the Miyoshi phenotype (disease duration 24 years) (T1-weighted (WI) A, B, C; STIR D, E, F).

the pseudo-metabolic phenotype. Symptoms first began at the age of 22 with swelling of the left leg before each menstrual cycle in combination with weakness of the calf muscles. At 25, she began to notice weakness in the proximal lower extremities when climbing stairs. From the age of 31, her edema was bilateral and lasted 3-7 days per month, and her gait acquired the Trendelenburg sign, and from 43 years of age with moderate steppage gait. Muscle strength was reduced in the distal and proximal muscles of the upper limbs to 4/5 (MRC scale) (hand-grip dynamometry of 8/9 kgf). Strength in the hip flexors decreased to 4/5, while in the muscles of the extensor knee joints it was 2-3/5. In the distal areas of the lower limbs, strength was primarily reduced in the extensors of the feet to 3/5 when compared to the flexors at 4/5. Pronounced atrophy of the calf muscles was observed. The Achilles tendon flexion contracture was 102-114°. The phenotype was Miyoshi and grade 2 on the Vignos scale or 26 points on the MDS. The CK level was 1770 U/L. Mutations in the *DYSF* gene were detected c. 1116C > A. (p. Ser372Arg) with c.759G > C, (p. Gln253His) and was compound heterozygous.

Among the thigh muscles, there was predominant fatty replacement of the anterior thigh muscle group (up to 80-85%) with less involvement of the rectus femoris (FF up to 75%) compared to the posterior and medial muscle groups (FF of 40-70%), which was uncharacteristic for most patients with LGMDR2. The adductor group was characterized by lesser involvement (FF up to 40%) than the posterior group (FF of 50-70%) and exhibited a number of features, including the earlier involvement of the sartorius (FF of 35% - 2b st.) and an intact and hypertrophic gracilis muscle. One notable feature was the fibrotic changes in the distal semitendinosus muscle (Fig. 4B,E). In the lower leg, the triceps surae was preserved (FF of 85-95%), but the predominance of fatty infiltration in the tibialis anterior (FF of 85%) over the peronei (FF of 30%) was uncharacteristic (Fig. 4C,F).

Patient 3

This was a 15-year-old male who experienced disease onset at the age of 14 when he began to run more slowly, felt muscle weakness, and reported prolonged recovery after exercise. Muscle strength was slightly reduced in the flexors of the elbow joints 5/5 (MRC scale) and the flexors of the feet 5/5. The extension contractures of the Achilles tendons were 86-87°. The phenotype was Miyoshi and scored a grade 1 on the Vignos scale and 39 points on the MDS. The CK level was 8134 U/L. Mutations found in the *DYSF* gene were p.200_201delTGinsAT, (p.Val67Asp), in the homozygous state.

When investigating LGMDR2 at an early stage of the disease, it is possible to make a false diagnosis of inflammatory myopathy based on atypical MRI signs, including pronounced asymmetric edema on STIR-T2w images and minimal fatty infiltration in the adductor magnus and soleus muscles on T1-WI images. Such a pattern of early muscle changes in LGMDR2 is designated as pseudo-myositis or pseudo-metabolic ^{1,19} (Fig. 5).

Patient 4

A 35-year-old female first exhibited signs of the disease at the age of 30 with the development of pulling sensations in the calf muscles. This was followed by the acute development of weakness in the anterior thigh muscle groups and the extensors of the right foot after undergoing L5 radiculopathy. From the age of 31, the patient lost the ability to run and was unable to stand from a deep squat position on her own. Extension in the knee joint was at 3/5, flexion in the knee joint was 4/5 (MRC scale), and hip flexion was 4/5. The Achilles tendon contractures were up to 95°. The phenotype was LGMD, grade 3 on the Vignos scale, and 38 points on the MDS. The CK level was 2091 U/L. Mutations in the c.6313G > A gene



Figure 4. MRI pattern of fatty muscle infiltration of the pelvic girdle, thighs and legs of patient 2 (T1-WI A, B, C; Short Tau Inversion Recovery (STIR) D, E, F). Note fibrotic changes in the distal semitendinosus muscle (images B and E, marked with arrows).



Figure 5. MRI pattern of the distribution of fatty infiltration in the muscles of the pelvic girdle, thighs and lower legs in patient 3 with a disease duration of 1 year. (T1-WI A, B, C; Short Tau Inversion Recovery (STIR) D, E, F). Arrows indicate fibrosed muscles.

DYSF (p.Ala2105Thr) were detected; c.4282C > T (p.Gln1428Ter), and was compound heterozygous.

There was the predominant fatty infiltration of the anterior thigh muscle group relative to the posterior and medial groups. The distribution of fatty replacement in the anterior thigh muscle group was similar to the lesion pattern in congenital muscular dystrophies associated with type VI collagen mutations (target-like sign) (Fig. 6E). This collagen-like MRI pattern has also been described for LGMDR1 as an atypical variant associated with a severe disease course (Fig. 6D). The muscles of the medial and posterior groups exhibited a more pronounced fatty replacement in the right limbs (FF of 45-70% on the right side and 20-40% on the left). The asymmetric muscle involvement is a fairly common feature of LGMD recessive type 2 (R2) and, in this case, was possibly related to predominant loading on the right lower limb due to chronic left radicular pain syndrome (Fig. 6A-C). In the lower legs, the pattern of fatty replacement was classic dysferlinopathy, with asymmetric destruction of the soleus (FF up to 90% - 4 st. on the right and an FF of 15% - 1 st. on the left) and the peronei (FF up to 55% - 2b st. on the right and an FF of 10% - 1 st. on the left).

Patient 5

A 64-year-old female first experienced the disease at the age of 45 with gradually increasing weakness of the thigh muscles. By the age of 55, climbing stairs had become difficult. Muscle strength was reduced in the hip flexors (4 points), the leg flexors (4 points), and the deltoid (4 points). The knee and Achilles reflexes were reduced. The Achilles tendon extensor contracture was up to 98-99°. The phenotype was LGMD, grade 1 on the Vignos scale and 39 points according to the MDS. The CK level was 290 U/L. Compound heterozygote mutations were identified in *DYSF* c. 6116G > A (p. Arg2039Gln), c. 1692 + 8G > A. A muscle biopsy revealed a cytoplasmic pattern of muscle fiber staining and the absence of dysferlin in individual muscle fibers.

For this patient, who experienced a long course of the disease (9 years) against the background of age-related initial fatty infiltration of most muscles, minimal involvement of all gluteal muscles was observed (FF up to 25%). In the thigh muscles, predominant involvement of the vastus lateralis, medialis and intermedius (up to 35% - 2b) is atypical for most cases of LGMDR2. The rectus femoris was preserved (FF up to 5%) and relatively hypertrophied. The calf muscles presented with a minimal



Figure 6. Collagen-like MRI pattern of muscle damage in the pelvic girdle, thighs and legs of patient 4, a 35 year old with limb-girdle muscular dystrophy recessive type 2 (LGMDR2) and a disease duration of 5 years (A, B, C). The MRI pattern of fatty replacement in the thigh muscles of a 27-year-old patient with LGMD recessive type 1 (D); and patient B, a 47 year old with congenital Bethlem myopathy (E). T1-WI, weighted; STIR, Short Tau Inversion Recovery.

involvement of the soleus (FF up to 30%) with signs of moderate hypertrophy of the medial head of the gastrocnemius (Fig. 7A-C). The diffuse and moderate muscle damage with a late disease onset was probably due to the retention of a certain amount of dysferlin protein expression, which was confirmed by immunohistochemistry and Western blot analysis of a biopsied muscle sample (Fig. 7G-I).

Patient 6

A 30-year-old male first experienced disease at the age of 19 when he developed weakness when rising from



Figure 7. MRI pattern of fatty replacement distribution in the muscles of the pelvic girdle, thighs and legs of patient 5, a 64-year-old female with a disease duration of 9 years (T1-WI A, B, C; Short Tau Inversion Recovery (STIR)-T2w D, E, F). Immunohistochemical study of muscle biopsy samples from patients 5 (64 years old) and patient 4 (35 years old). Normal membrane dysferlin staining is observable in the vastus lateralis of patient 5 using antibodies to dysferlin (G). Control (H). Western blot analysis showed a low level of dysferlin protein expression in patient 4 and a decrease in expression of more than 60% in patient 5 (I).

a sitting position. From the age of 25, there was weakness in the calf muscles. At the age of 27, he began to notice weakness in the proximal and distal parts of the limbs. Muscle strength was reduced in the proximal (4/5 points) and distal segments (hand-grip dynamometry was 12/10 kgf) of the upper limbs. In the lower extremities, reductions were observed for hip flexion (4 points), knee flexion and extension (3 points), and foot extension (4 points). Tendon reflex was reduced in the knee; however, the Achilles reflexes ware normal. Tendon flexion contractures of the Achilles tendons it was 95/93°. The phenotype was LGMD, grade 3 on the Vignos scale and 32 points on the MDS. The CK level was 1930 U/L. Mutations in the *DYSF* gene were detected c. 1724T > S. (p. Leu757Pro), in the homozygous state.

Substitution of adipose tissue in the muscles of the thighs was typical, with predominant involvement of the

posterior muscle group (FF up to 98%). In the quadriceps, the characteristic preservation of the rectus femoris (FF up to 30%) compared with the vastus lateralis, medialis and intermedius muscles (FF of 45-50%) was observed. Damage to the adductor group was atypical, with more pronounced fatty replacement in the adductor longus (FF of 95% - 4 st.) than the adductor magnus (FF of 84% - 2b - 3 st.). In this patient, despite the long course of the disease, minimal diffuse degenerative damage in the lower legs (FF of 10-30% - 1-2a st.) contrasted with the severe fatty replacement of the thigh muscles (Fig. 8).

Discussion

Previous MRI imaging studies conducted with small patient samples using semi-quantitative T1w sequences have determined the main characteristics of muscle fatty



Figure 8. MRI pattern of the distribution of fatty infiltration in the muscles of the pelvic girdle, thighs and lower legs of a 30-year-old patient with limb-girdle muscular dystrophy recessive type 2 and a disease duration of 11 years (T1-WI A, B, C, D; Short Tau Inversion Recovery (STIR) E, F, G, H).

replacement patterns in dysferlinopathy using individual muscle Lamminen-Mercuri grades, grade frequency, and disease progression in the different muscle groups. In the largest study of 182 patients with dysferlinopathy, the idea of a typical MRI pattern and its evolution during disease progression was generalized ⁵. Therefore, for everyday clinical practice, it is important to describe the entire spectrum of variants observable via MRI patterns of muscle damage in dysferlinopathy.

One of the key MRI features of dysferlinopathy is muscle edema, which often leads to an erroneous diagnosis of inflammatory myopathy ²⁰. Edema of at least two or more muscles identified either qualitatively (STIR) or quantitatively (T2 MSME) was characteristic of all of our patients. Among the pelvic muscles, the most frequent and pronounced diffuse edema (according to STIR) was observed in the gluteus maximus and medius muscles, respectively. Edema was minimal and rare in the tensor fasciae latae and the gluteus minimus, which corresponds with previously reported data ^{7,11,17}. In our patients, most of the thigh muscles were characterized by the presence of edema, with the exception of the semitendinosus and semimembranosus muscles (11.1%). Edema occurred most frequently and was more pronounced in the anterior and medial groups of the thigh muscles including: the vastus lateralis (81.5%), intermedius (70.4%), medialis (59.3%); the sartorius and long head of the biceps femoris (51.9%); and the adductor magnus (46.6%), which is consistent with earlier studies ^{6,10}. Diaz-Manera et al. ¹⁷ has noted that edema in the sartorius, gracilis and rectus femoris mainly develop during the late stages of the disease.

Edema was most often observed in the extensor digitorum longus (59.3%), tibialis anterior (48.1%), tibialis posterior (37%), and flexor digitorum longus (37%), while the gastrocnemius was characterized by less swelling. In a relatively small number of cases, it has been shown that, in the early stages of the disease, edema is observable in the soleus and caput mediale m. gastrocnemii and, during the later stages, in the anterior and lateral muscle groups of the lower leg ^{6.21}. In a cohort of Chinese patients, Jin et al. ¹⁰ described the MRI pattern of thigh muscle edema in addition to the MRI pattern of fatty infiltration.

By comparing information concerning the MRI features of muscle damage during dysferlinopathy, we can confirm that severe edema occurs in muscles that are characterized by fatty infiltration and increased physical activity at this stage of the disease ¹⁷. Therefore, for patients already exhibiting fatty infiltration in the posterior group of thigh muscles, edema in the anterior group will most often be observed and, subsequent to their fat replacement, edema will occur to a greater extent in the gracilis and sartorius muscles. In presymptomatic cases, edema is often detected only in the posterior and medial groups of the thigh muscles, as well as in the medial head of the gastrocnemius. Though muscle edema is usually observed in inflammatory myopathies ²², however it can be present in other genetic muscle disorders such as FacioScapuloHumeral muscular Dystrophy ²³, LGMDR12 (already known as LGMD2L) ²⁴ and Pompe disease ²⁵.

With hundreds of dysferlinopathy cases now reported, the most common MRI patterns of muscle involvement have been unambiguously identified. However, insufficient attention has been paid to individual variability in the muscle damage of patients from various socio-ethnic groups. In our sample, no significant lesion variability was uncovered for the muscles of the pelvic girdle. In the calves, muscle damage variability was also minimal and exhibited earlier or simultaneous involvement of the tibialis anterior and posterior muscle groups. This was in contrast to the typical variant, which is predominant in the posterior and lateral groups. A similar type of variability has been described by Illa et al. ³ as a DMAT phenotype.

In our sample, the greatest variability of the lesions was characterized by the thigh muscles, for which three main types of MRI patterns were identified: proximal in 20/25 cases, 80% (range 59-93); anterior-dominant in 4/25 cases, 16% (range 5-36); and diffuse in 1/25 cases, 4% (range 0.1-20). The prevalence of the typical posterior dominant pattern was comparable to the results of Angelini et al.¹⁷ but significantly higher than in a cohort of patients from China (56%) and Germany (40%) despite the absence of differences in gender or age in the compared groups 9,10. Among patients with an anterior-dominant pattern, we distinguished the collagen-like variant, which was has been previously described in patients with congenital collagen VI associated myopathy and in severe LGMDR1 ^{26,27}. The diffuse MRI pattern that we identified in one case was much more common among patients in a Chinese cohort (12/57, 23%, range (13-37))¹⁰. It should be noted that the diffuse nature of the lesions was observable from the onset of the disease, and was not a consequence of pronounced fat replacement during the late stages of dysferlinopathy, as presented by Arrigoni 6 in a quantitative analysis of thigh muscles with equal involvement of the anterior and posterior medial groups. In addition, the rare proximal variant was characterized by gross damage to the thigh muscles, with minimal involvement of the lower leg muscles, which often leads to an erroneous diagnosis of sarcoglycanopathy, Pompe disease, or LGMD type R9.

The pseudo-myositis MRI pattern occurred in 2/25, 8% (range 1-26) patients and was characterized only by the presence of edema according to STIR. There was an absence of muscle atrophy and fatty replacement, which may be a sign of an early stage of the disease. This MRI pattern may correspond to the previously described pseudo-metabolic phenotype ¹⁹. The pseudo-metabolic variant was observed in 2% out of 193 patients from different European countries ²⁸.

The relatively small patient sample size can be a limitation of our study. However, the diversity of ethnic groups included in the sample is a positive aspect.

Conclusions

Increasing the efficiency of routine diagnoses of dysferlinopathy using MRI depends not only on knowledge of the typical distribution of fatty infiltration and muscle edema, but also on understanding the sequence of involvement of the muscle groups, as well as taking into account individual variants from MRI patterns.

Ethical consideration

None.

Acknowledgement

None.

Funding

The study was supported by the Ministry of Science and Higher Education of Russia, agreement No. 075-15-2021-1346

Conflict of interest

The Authors declare no conflict of interest.

Author contributions

The Authors have contribuited equally to the work.

References

- ¹ Aoki M, Liu J, Richard I, et al. Genomic organization of the dysferlin gene and novel mutations in Miyoshi myopathy. Neurology 2001;57:271-278. https://doi.org/10.1212/wnl.57.2.271
- ² Okahashi S, Ogawa G, Suzuki M, et al. Asymptomatic sporadic dysferlinopathy presenting with elevation of serum creatine kinase. Typical distribution of muscle involvement shown by MRI but not by CT. Int. Mede (Tokyo, Japan) 2008;47:305-307. https://doi. org/10.2169/internalmedicine.47.0519
- ³ Illa I, Serrano-Munuera C, Gallardo E, et al. Distal anterior compartment myopathy: a dysferlin mutation causing a new muscular dystrophy phenotype. Ann Neurol 2001;49:130-134. PMID: 111982844.
- ⁴ Paradas C, Gonzalez-Quereda L, De Luna N, et al. A new phenotype of dysferlinopathy with congenital onset. Neuromusc Disord 2009;19:21-25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nmd.2008.09.015

- ⁵ Diaz-Manera J, Fernandez-Torron R, Llauger J, et al. Muscle MRI in patients with dysferlinopathy: pattern recognition and implications for clinical trials. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 2018;89:1071-1081. https://doi.org/10.1136/jnnp-2017-317488
- ⁶ Arrigoni F, De Luca A, Velardo D, et al. Multiparametric quantitative MRI assessment of thigh muscles in limb-girdle muscular dystrophy 2A and 2B. Muscle Nerve 2018;58:550-558. https://doi. org/10.1002/mus.26189
- ⁷ Paradas C, Llauger J, Diaz-Manera J, et al. Redefining dysferlinopathy phenotypes based on clinical findings and muscle imaging studies. Neurology 2010;75:316-323. https://doi.org/10.1212/ WNL.0b013e3181ea1564
- ⁸ Jethwa H, Jacques TS, Gunny R, et al. Limb girdle muscular dystrophy type 2B masquerading as inflammatory myopathy: case report. Pediatr Rheumatol Online J 2013;11:19. https://doi. org/10.1186/1546-0096-11-19
- ⁹ Fischer D, Walter MC, Kesper K, et al. Diagnostic value of muscle MRI in differentiating LGMD21 from other LGMDs. J Neurol 2005;252:538-547. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00415-005-0684-4
- ¹⁰ Jin S, Du J, Wang Z, et al. Heterogeneous characteristics of MRI changes of thigh muscles in patients with dysferlinopathy. Muscle Nerve 2016;54:1072-1079. https://doi.org/10.1002/mus.25207
- ¹¹ Kesper K, Kornblum C, Reimann J, et al. Pattern of skeletal muscle involvement in primary dysferlinopathies: a whole-body 3.0-T magnetic resonance imaging study. Acta Neurol Scand 2009;120:111-118. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0404.2008.01129.x
- ¹² Vignos PJ, Jr., Archibald KC. Maintenance of ambulation in childhood muscular dystrophy. J Chron Dis 1960;12:273-290. https:// doi.org/10.1016/0021-9681(60)90105-3
- ¹³ Scott OM, Hyde SA, Goddard C, Dubowitz V. Quantitation of muscle function in children: a prospective study in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Muscle Nerve 1982;5:291-301. https://doi.org/10.1002/ mus.880050405
- ¹⁴ Anderson LV, Davison K, Moss JA, et al. Characterization of monoclonal antibodies to calpain 3 and protein expression in muscle from patients with limb-girdle muscular dystrophy type 2A. Am Journal Path 1998;153:1169-1179. https://doi.org/10.1016/ s0002-9440(10)65661-1
- ¹⁵ Nicholson LV, Davison K, Falkous G, et al. Dystrophin in skeletal muscle. I. Western blot analysis using a monoclonal antibody. J Neurol Sci 1989;94:125-136. https://doi. org/10.1016/0022-510x(89)90223-2
- ¹⁶ Azzabou N, Loureiro de Sousa P, et al. Validation of a generic approach to muscle water T2 determination at 3T in fat-infiltrated skeletal muscle. J Magn Reson Imaging 2015;41:645-653. https://doi.org/10.1002/jmri.24613
- ¹⁷ Diaz J, Woudt L, Suazo L, et al. Broadening the imaging phenotype of dysferlinopathy at different disease stages. Muscle Nerve 2016;54:203-210. https://doi.org/10.1002/mus.25045

- ¹⁸ Mercuri E, Cini C, Pichiecchio A, et al. Muscle magnetic resonance imaging in patients with congenital muscular dystrophy and Ullrich phenotype. Neuromusc Disord 2003;13:554-558. https://doi. org/10.1016/s0960-8966(03)00091-9
- ¹⁹ Nguyen K, Bassez G, Bernard R, et al. Dysferlin mutations in LG-MD2B, Miyoshi myopathy, and atypical dysferlinopathies. Hum Mut 2005;26:165. https://doi.org/10.1002/humu.9355
- ²⁰ Tang J, Song X, Ji G, et al. A novel mutation in the DYSF gene in a patient with a presumed inflammatory myopathy. Neuropathology 2018;May 25. https://doi.org/10.1111/neup.12474 [Epub Ahead of Print]
- ²¹ Diaz-Manera J, Llauger J, Gallardo E, et al. Muscle MRI in muscular dystrophies. Acta Myol 2015;34:95-108. PMID: 27199536
- ²² Day J, Patel S, Limaye V. The role of magnetic resonance imaging techniques in evaluation and management of the idiopathic inflammatory myopathies. Semin Arthritis Rheum 2017;46:642-649. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semarthrit.2016.11.001
- ²³ Tasca G, Monforte M, Ottaviani P, et al. Magnetic resonance imaging in a large cohort of facioscapulohumeral muscular dystrophy patients: Pattern refinement and implications for clinical trials. Ann Neurol 2016;79:854-864. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.24640

- ²⁴ Marago I, Roberts M, Roncaroli F, et al. Limb girdle muscular dystrophy R12 (LGMD 2L, anoctaminopathy) mimicking idiopathic inflammatory myopathy: key points to prevent misdiagnosis. Rheumatology (Oxford, England) 2021;Jul 15. https://doi.org/10.1093/ rheumatology/keab553 [Epub Ahead of Print]
- ²⁵ Díaz-Manera J, Walter G, Straub V. Skeletal muscle magnetic resonance imaging in Pompe disease. Muscle Nerve 2021;63:640-650. https://doi.org/10.1002/mus.27099
- ²⁶ Barp A, Laforet P, Bello L, et al. European muscle MRI study in limb girdle muscular dystrophy type R1/2A (LGMDR1/LG-MD2A). J Neurol 2020;267:45-56. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00415-019-09539-y
- ²⁷ Fu J, Zheng YM, Jin SQ, et al. "Target" and "Sandwich" signs in thigh muscles have high diagnostic values for collagen VI-related myopathies. Chin Med J (Engl) 2016;129:1811-1816. https://doi. org/10.4103/0366-6999.186638
- ²⁸ Harris E, Bladen CL, Mayhew A, et al. The clinical outcome study for dysferlinopathy: an international multicenter study. Neurol Genet 2016;2:e89. https://doi.org/10.1212/nxg.0000000000000089

How to define and enhance diagnostic and assistance pathways in neuromuscular diseases during the COVID-19 pandemic: the concept of network

Guja Astrea¹, Gemma Marinella^{1,2}, Caterina Agosto³, Delia Gagliardi⁴, Marina Grandis⁵, Maria Giuliano⁶, Luisa Politano⁷

¹ IRCCS Fondazione Stella Maris, Calambrone (PI), Italy; ² Department of Clinical and Experimental Medicine, University of Pisa, Pisa, Italy; ³ Paediatric Palliative Care, Pain Service, Department of Women's and Children's Health, University of Padua, Padua, Italy; ⁴ Dino Ferrari Centre, Department of Pathophysiology and Transplantation (DEPT), Neuroscience Section, University of Milan, Milan, Italy; IRCCS Foundation Ca' Granda Ospedale Maggiore Policlinico, Neurology Unit, Milan, Italy; ⁵ Department of Neuroscience, Rehabilitation, Ophthalmology, Maternal and Child Health University of Genova; IRCSS San Martino, Genoa, Italy; ⁶ Regional President of SIMPe Campania (Italian Society of Pediatricians) and National Head of SIMPe for Rare and Chronic Diseases; ⁷ Cardiomyology and Medical Genetics, University of Campania, Naples, Italy

The main consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic has been to increase the distance between patients and their doctors and to limit the opportunities to compare experiences and clinical cases in the medical community. Based on this, we adopted a strategy to create networks with the ambition to break down these distances and to unify the process of care and management. Here we report the results and perspectives of our efforts and studies. A summary of the presentations on the topic, held during the webinars organized for macro-areas by the Italian Association of Myology with the aim of raising awareness among "non-expert doctors" who deal with neuromuscular disorders in the era of COVID-19 was collected and here reported. Although the macro-areas responded in different way to the problems of neuromuscular patients in the era of COVID-19, they all have tried to create a network between doctors and opportunity for education and information, with the secondary outcome to have shared process of care and management. Telemedicine, virtual meetings and the strengthening of national and international networks, through research projects, were the nodal and common points. Due to their complexity, neuromuscular diseases had already taught clinicians the importance of multidisciplinary confrontation. COVID-19 has further strengthened the need to create links between clinicians and experts, even of different nationalities, in order to guarantee to patients the best possible care, but above all, access and continuity of care even in critical periods. Adequate answers have been given to these problems, though there is still a lot to improve.

Key words: neuromuscular disorders, COVID-19 pandemic, telemedicine, networks

Received: October 30, 2021 Accepted: December 12, 2021

Correspondence Guja Astrea IRCCS Fondazione Stella Maris, 56127 Calambrone (PI), Italy. E-mail: guja.astrea@fsm.unipi.it

How to cite this article: Astrea G, Marinella G, Agosto C, et al. How to define and enhance diagnostic and assistance pathways in neuromuscular diseases during the COVID-19 pandemic: the concept of network. Acta Myol 2021;40:172-176. https://doi. org/10.36185/2532-1900-060

© Gaetano Conte Academy - Mediterranean Society of Myology

OPEN ACCESS

This is an open access article distributed in accordance with the CC-BY-NC-ND (Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International) license. The article can be used by giving appropriate credit and mentioning the license, but only for non-commercial purposes and only in the original version. For further information: https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/deed.en

Introduction

The impact of coronavirus disease 19 (COVID-19) pandemic in the care of many diseases, and in particular rare, chronic and disabling diseases such as Neuromuscular Disorders (NMDs) has been significant.

National health care services underwent a radical reorganization, with in-person consultations being postponed, and not considered urgent treatments delayed or canceled. In addition, there was a rapid implementation of remote approaches to patients ¹.

Therefore, patients with NMDs not having guarantees of care and treatment as before the pandemic were at greater risk of developing severe acute respiratory syndrome-coronavirus-2 (SARS-CoV-2) infection ² and experienced deeper distress than to other patients, and prolonged home isolation ¹.

A multicentric national survey ³ promoted by the Italian Association of Myology (AIM) showed since the first period of the pandemic, a significant malfunction of clinical and support services for patients affected by NMDs at national level, with the following outcomes. First, 40% of surveyed tertiary neuromuscular centers reported a reduction in outpatient visit and examinations, while 22% postponed in-hospital administration of therapies and the vast majority (93%) reduced or suspended rehabilitative services and on-site outpatient visits. Second, the possible worsening of all NMD conditions due to the indirect consequences of the pandemic SARS-CoV-2 infection, as well as the need to stop or significantly restrict the access to clinical trials, was also reported ³.

Because of these critical issues, the community of NMDs medical experts tried to reconsider the gold standard of excellence in disease management, evaluating the risk/benefit ratio of specific interventions (pharmacological and rehabilitative), with respect to the possibility of exposure to the disease. They also re-thought the clinical trial procedures to ensure remote participation in all phases of the study, from enrollment to drug administration and follow-up ⁴.

This effort was also made in Italy with the aim of creating an approach shared by all Italian third-level centers and facilitating an early diagnosis also at local level.

Thus, the AIM Board proposed a series of webinars aimed at raising awareness among "less experienced" doctors to create a network that could support patients, despite the lack of medical care and the isolation imposed by the COVID-19 pandemic.

Here we report the Italian experience derived from sharing a "new approach to care" during these webinars divided into two macro-areas of our Country (North-Center and Center-South Italy).

Methods

The experience on the management of the neuromuscular patient during the COVID-19 pandemic, shared through lectures presented in the webinars and entitled "The management of the patient with neuromuscular disease in the pandemic period: from telemedicine to the vaccine experience" is proposed below by comparing, for simplicity, two national macro-areas.

Results

North-Central Italy

In the North-Center, the first Italian macro-area that faced the spread of COVID-19 pandemic, the main strategy adopted was to create networks to reduce the distances imposed by the pandemic and to standardize the care and management process. This was possible by defining three types of networks, networks between stakeholders, regional networks and national/international networks. To improve the network between doctor and patient, face-toface visits were replaced by telemedicine appointments. This modality cannot replace the direct neuromuscular examination but has the advantage of monitoring the patient's clinical status through anamnestic collection and the tests performed.

A rehabilitation experience using telemedicine was also reported ⁵. Notably, a 28-year-old man with Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease who had received a probable SARS-CoV-2 infection, was able to benefit of continuing hand rehabilitation after tendon transfer surgery via telerehabilitation. It was also possible to advise the patient on ways to prevent the spread of infection and to cope with restrictions that limited outpatient visits ⁵.

In Padua, particular attention was paid to the reorganization of the paediatric palliative care (PPC) referral service. The improvement of their standard of care was achieved by collecting data on the consequences of CO-VID-19, by holding multidisciplinary meetings to share the approach with professionals involved in PPC in the Veneto region and by preparing educational material on COVID-19 for patients and their families. The data collected were used to assess real needs, and to develop a more appropriate reorganization model ⁶. The following strategies were in particular put in place: (i) a 24-hour telephone service assisted by an experienced nurse; (ii) the reduction as much as possible of non-urgent home activities, to favor urgent follow up and critical interventions; (iii) the management of non-urgent needs through advice and 24-hour training for the COVID-19 emergency for healthcare professionals and families; (iv) monitoring and training of patients and families through the use of telemedicine through nursing telephone monitoring every 15-30 days; (v) converting physiotherapy activity into therapist-led video call interventions; (vi) mandatory SARS-CoV-2 swab testing for patients and relatives prior their admission to the hospitals ⁶.

The PPC referral service in Padua collected also experiences in children with SMA who were obliged to postpone their hospital-based therapy (i.e., infusions of nusinersen[®]). Forty-eight % of parents of children with SMA perceived a worsening of muscle strength, although no correlation between delayed treatment and changes in functional scores in short and long term assessments was found ⁷. This discordant perception is mainly due to a state of parental anxiety related to the suspension of therapy and physiotherapy, and to a perception of changes in their QoL.

In accordance with this statement, an important study was carried out in Lombardy with the aim to evaluate the consequences of COVID-19 pandemic measures and prolonged home isolation on quality of life (QoL) and perceived disease burden ⁸. Between February and May 2020, 350 NMD patients underwent a telephone interview. The results showed that the virus outbreak impaired some aspects of QoL and affected access to outpatient care and ancillary services, with limited use of remote alternatives ⁸.

At the regional level, a study from the Liguria region analyzed the impact of SARS-CoV-2 infection on patients with NMD and in particular on those affected by Myasthenia Gravis and Guillain Barré syndrome (GBS), in consideration of their standard immunosuppressive therapy. The study concluded that SARS-CoV-2 infection could both cause GBS and affect the outcome of patients with non COVID-19 related GBS ⁹.

An empowerment of national and international networks was done to improve collaboration and encourage the birth of new research projects. Colleagues from the Liguria region participated in the national NeuroCovid project, a multicenter cohort study on neurological disorders associated with COVID-19, conducted in 51 centers in Italy, sponsored by the Italian Society of Neurology (SIN). It seems that a wide spectrum of treatable neurological manifestations may be associated with COVID-19 infection, including hypo-ageusia, hyposmia, acute ischemic stroke, delirium, headache, cognitive impairment, abnormal behavior or psychosis, seizures, GBS, severe encephalopathy with stupor or coma, dizziness, encephalitis and hemorrhagic stroke, and most cases occur in middle-aged adults with mild or severe respiratory syndrome.

On the other side, a national multicenter study under the leadership of tertiary NMD center in Milan documented the disease course and outcome of COVID-19 viral infection in NMD patients, and investigated the potential acute exacerbations of muscle symptoms in these patients. The study concluded that COVID-19 manifestations and morbidity in NMD patients were similar to those presented in the general population and there were no objective changes in disease course during COVID-19 infection.

Central-Southern Italy

The approach of the central-southern regions was different. As part of the reorganization of health- services, NMD experts valued the figure of the family pediatrician as key player in connecting patients and families to health professionals. In particular, the importance of the pediatricians in achieving an early diagnosis was underlined, and in line with a project shared by the Italian Society of pediatricians (SIMPe) and AIM, the training of these figures and their entrustment with the role of "case manager" of the clinical picture, were promoted.

A pediatric epidemiology and research network (RePER) was activated since the outbreak of the pandemic began ^{10,11}, with web-based focus and training on rare conditions NMDs included. RePER created training web pages on various diseases with the aim of improving information, knowledge and care over time. These specific web pages are easy to consult and indicate the characteristics, the warning signs, the diagnostic possibilities, and the specialist reference centers for each disease. For some pathologies, experts have defined a summary of symptoms to consider when raising the suspicion of an infection, useful for implementing the likelihood of a timely diagnosis.

In order to strengthen the network between pediatricians and NMD expert reference centers and to increase knowledge on neuromuscular pathologies, RePER activated a series of web conferences held by experts for training purposes. Finally, the role of pediatricians as "case manager" has allowed a direct relationship with families and integrated commitment with other health professionals, school and specific needs.

Finally, the staff views on the changes in the care provided by a rehabilitation centre as part of a larger project investigating the impact of these changes on professionals, patients and their families were reported ¹². The survey was conducted using an open-ended questionnaire including six-items, on the practical and psychological aspects that emerged during the pandemic, in relation to the healthcare services provided by the centre and to the patients/caregivers conditions. The participants, most of them physiotherapists, highlighted 169 aspects emerging in the pandemic, 48.5% referring to the resources used to cope with critical issues and 51.5% concerning the difficulties encountered. Emotional aspects prevailed on practical aspects both in resources (52.4 *vs* 47.6%) and

in difficulties (57.5 vs 42.5%) categories. In particular, with regard to patients' resources, psychological benefits, despite the burden, were greater than practical ones (87 vs 13%), in the form of improved intra-family relationships, feeling more cared for, and satisfaction for the received care.

Discussion

Although the experiences reported here, implemented to address the difficulties in maintaining adequate care of the NMD patients at the time of the COVID-19, are different and not integrated in a common national health plan, they summarize few salient and common points as the need for information, the need for training, the need for sharing. During the of COVID-19 outbreak, we saw that the best way to get assistance in NMDs was to strengthen or even create networking by considering all stakeholders.

In fact, only by creating shared paths and with wellorganized flows at various levels, it is possible to overcome unexpected events, or insurmountable challenges such what we had to face with rare diseases in general and with NMDs in particular.

One tool that has proved useful in networking is telemedicine that has offered an immediate solution to break down both physical and psychological barriers. The use of telemedicine for visits, rehabilitation and training was the strategy shared by both macro-areas. The telemedicine model was developed not solely because of this need. Previous studies aimed to assess whether this method was adequate and comparable to face-to-face visits. Hosbon et al., in 2016¹³ found that Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis (ALS) patients treated with remote approaches had the same level of care and comparable survival as those with face-to-face visits. Furthermore, they reported that a virtual approach seems to reduce emergency room access and acute hospitalizations. Similar conclusions have been reached by Portaro et al. 14 for patients with Facio-Scapulo-Humeral Dystrophy (FSHD).

Another useful tool was the implementation of online sharing of critical care and second opinion through videoconferencing consultation. This tool in the age of information technology should be encouraged, by allowing for more frequent meetings, the emergence of new research opportunities and in general, more shared decision-making.

Furthermore, the empowerment of national and international networks has allowed the definition of common guidelines for the management of neurological complications from COVID-19 infection and for vaccinations.

In conclusion, the COVID-19 pandemic has confronted the healthcare system with an unexpected dif-



Figure 1. Graphic layout of action strategies implemented to overcome the difficulties imposed by the COVID-19 pandemic.

ficulty in managing patients with rare, debilitating and complex diseases, such as neuromuscular diseases. However, the resilience of the clinicians who deal with these pathologies has made it possible to find and put in action strategies that reduce the distances by favoring connections at multiple levels of intervention (Fig. 1). Of course, the path is still too long, web connections are not always optimal and education to use new tools is not widely spread. However, we are aware that, as a popular saying goes "the road is harder when you're headed for the sky".

Ethical consideration

No mention is made of sensitive data referable to patients.

Funding

The Authors did not receive any financial support. The study was supported by the Ministry of Science and Higher Education of Russia, agreement No. 075-15-2021-1346.

Conflict of interest

All the authors declare no conflict of interest.

Author contributions

GA and LP conceptualized this study after having investigating the interest in sharing the information of the various co-authors. CA, DG, MG and MGi acquired and described the data concerning their territorial reality.

GM and GA analyzed the available data in the light of the literature and wrote the draft, under the guidance, supervision and methodology of LP. GA and LP reviewed the final version of the paper

References

- ¹ Bertran Recasens B, Rubio MA. Neuromuscular diseases care in the era of COVID-19. Front Neurol 2020;11:588929. https://doi. org/10.3389/fneur.2020.588929
- ² Natera-de Benito D, Aguilera-Albesa S, Costa-Comellas L, et al. COVID-19 in children with neuromuscular disorders. J Neurol 2021;268:3081-3085. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00415-020-10339-y
- ³ Mauri E, Abati E, Musumeci O, et al. Estimating the impact of COVID-19 pandemic on services provided by Italian Neuromuscular Centers: an Italian Association of Myology survey of the acute phase. Acta Myol 2020;39:57-66. https://doi. org/10.36185/2532-1900-008
- ⁴ Solé G, Salort-Campana E, Pereon Y, et al. Guidance for the care of neuromuscular patients during the COVID-19 pandemic outbreak from the French Rare Health Care for Neuromuscular Diseases Network. Rev Neurol (Paris) 2020;176:507-515. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurol.2020.04.004
- ⁵ Prada V, Bellone E, Schenone A, et al. The suspected SARS-Cov-2 infection in a Charcot-Marie-Tooth patient undergoing postsurgical rehabilitation: the value of telerehabilitation for evaluation and continuing treatment. Int J Rehabil Res 2020;43:285-286. https:// doi.org/10.1097/MRR.00000000000418
- ⁶ Lazzarin P, Avagnina I, Divisic A, et al. Management strategies adopted by a paediatric palliative care network in northern Italy during the COVID-19 pandemic. Acta Paediatrica 2020;109:1897-1898. https://doi.org/10.1111/apa.15411

- ⁷ Agosto C, Salamon E, Giacomelli L, et al. Effect of the COVID-19 pandemic on children with SMA receiving nusinersen: what is missed and what is gained? Front Neurol 2021;12:704928. https:// doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2021.704928
- ⁸ Gagliardi D, Costamagna G, Abati E, et al. Impact of COVID-19 on the quality of life of patients with neuromuscular disorders in the Lombardy area, Italy. Muscle Nerve 2021;64:474-482. https://doi. org/10.1002/mus.27378
- ⁹ Garnero M, Del Sette M, Assini A, et al. COVID-19-related and not related Guillain-Barré syndromes share the same management pitfalls during lock down: The experience of Liguria region in Italy. J Neurol Sci 2020;418:117114. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jns.2020.117114
- ¹⁰ Doria M, Annicchiarico G, Rachele C, et al. Raccomandazioni per il riconoscimento precoce delle malattie neuromuscolari (Focus sulla Distrofia Muscolare Duchenne).
- ¹¹ Annicchiarico G. Malattie rare: il valore della microrete. Relazione di cura e investimento su una responsabilità che ci gratifica. Il Medico Pediatra 2020;29:21-24. https://doi. org/10.36179/2611-5212-2020-36
- ¹² Citarelli G, Garofalo C, Esposito MG, et al. Impact of the CO-VID-19 pandemic on rehabilitation setting. Part 1: professionals' views on the changes in routine care provided by a rehabilitation centre for patients with muscle diseases. Acta Myol 2021;40:132-134. https://doi.org/10.36185/2532-1900-054
- ¹³ Hobson EV, Baird WO, Cooper CL, et al. Using technology to improve access to specialist care in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a systematic review. Amyotroph Lateral Scler Frontotemporal Degener 2016;17:313-324. https://doi.org/10.3109/21678421.2016.1165255
- ¹⁴ Portaro S, Calabrò RS, Bramanti P, et al. Telemedicine for facioscapulo-humeral muscular dystrophy: a multidisciplinary approach to improve quality of life and reduce hospitalization rate? Disabil Health J 2018;11:306-309. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. dhjo.2017.09.003

Received: October 27, 2021 Accepted: December 13, 2021

Correspondence

Antonella Pini UOC pediatric Neurology and Psychiatry, IRCCS – Istituto delle Scienze Neurologiche di Bologna, via Altura 3, 40139 Bologna, Italy. Tel.:+39 051 6225111 E-mail: antonella.pini@isnb.it

How to cite this article: Scarpini G, Valentino ML, Giannotta M, et al. BAG3-related myofibrillar myopathy: a further observation with cardiomyopathy at onset in pediatric age. Acta Myol 2021;40:177-183. https://doi.org/10.36185/2532-1900-061

© Gaetano Conte Academy - Mediterranean Society of Myology



This is an open access article distributed in accordance with the CC-BY-NC-ND (Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International) license. The article can be used by giving appropriate credit and mentioning the license, but only for non-commercial purposes and only in the original version. For further information: https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/deed.en

CASE REPORTS

BAG3-related myofibrillar myopathy: a further observation with cardiomyopathy at onset in pediatric age

Gaia Scarpini¹, Maria Lucia Valentino^{2.3}, Melania Giannotta¹, Luca Ragni⁴, Annalaura Torella⁵, Marta Columbaro⁶, Vincenzo Nigro⁵, Antonella Pini¹

¹ Neuromuscular Pediatric Unit, UOC di Neuropsichiatria dell'età pediatrica, IRCCS Istituto delle Scienze Neurologiche di Bologna, Bologna, Italy; ² UOC di Clinica Neurologica, IRCCS Istituto delle Scienze Neurologiche di Bologna, Bologna, Italy; ³ Department of Biomedical and NeuroMotor Sciences, University of Bologna, Bologna, Italy; ⁴ Pediatric Cardiology, University of Bologna, Bologna, Italy; ⁵ Telethon Institute of Genetics and Medicine (TIGEM), Università della Campania "Luigi Vanvitelli", Pozzuoli, Naples, Italy; ⁶ SC Musculoskeletal Cell Biology Laboratory, IRCCS Istituto Ortopedico Rizzoli, Bologna, Bologna, Italy

Myofibrillar myopathies are a heterogeneous group of neuromuscular disorders characterized by degeneration of Z-disk, causing the disintegration of myofibrils. They may be caused by mutations in different genes, among these, the BAG3 gene (Bcl-2 associed-athanogene-3) encodes a multidomain protein that plays an important role in many cellular processes. We report the case of a 16-year-old male who at 4 years of age presented with a hypertrophic obstructive cardiomyopathy, then developed axonal sensory motor polyneuropathy, muscle weakness, rigid spine, severe kyphoscoliosis and respiratory failure. Muscle biopsy showed the typical hallmark of myofibrillar myopathy with abnormal cytoplasmic expression of multiple proteins. Ade novo heterozygous common mutation in the BAG3 gene with a c.626C > T (p.Pro209Leu) was discovered on NGS genetic analysis. Mutations in the BAG3 gene are causes of a severe and progressive condition and natural history data are important to be collected. An early diagnosis is critical for prognostic implications in cardiomyopathy and respiratory failure treatment.

Key words: BAG3, myofibrillar myopathy, cardiomyopathy, pediatric neuromuscular disorder

Introduction

Myofibrillar myopathies (MFM) are a heterogeneous group of neuromuscular disorders caused by mutations of different genes that share myopathological features, first of all the disintegration of Z-disks followed by myofibrillar disruption and ectopic accumulation of multiple proteins¹. Each gene produces a mutated protein which is an integral part of the Z-disk or is closely associated with it. The clinical manifestations of various subtypes can change and may include different age of onset (from childhood to late adulthood) and distal more than proximal weakness, cardiopathy, respiratory failure, cataracts or peripheral neuropathy in various

Gaia Scarpini et al.

combinations. The diagnosis of MFM is based on clinical findings, electromyography, nerve conduction studies and muscle histology. The most frequent inheritance pattern of the MFM-causing genes is autosomal dominant, and in a significant number of patients the mutation occurs *de novo*²⁻³.

An early-onset subtype of MFM is caused by a mutation in *BAG3* gene on chromosome 10, encoding for the antiapoptotic Bag3 (Bcl-2 associed-athanogene-3) protein. Bag3 is a multi-domain protein that regulates the Hsp70 family of molecular chaperones and that interacts with many other polypeptides, strongly expressed in skeletal and cardiac muscle and at lower level in other tissues. Bag3 is involved in a panoply of cellular processes such as development, apoptosis, autophagy, cytoskeleton organization, cell adhesion and motility ⁴.

The clinical presentation of BAG3-related MFM is usually characterized by limb and axial muscle weakness, peripheral neuropathy, cardiomyopathy and respiratory failure. In these patients the mutation P209L re-occur at a high frequency. In the typical presentation of MFM due to BAG3 mutation, childhood cases can be particularly severe with rapid progression of the clinical picture and death in early adolescence ⁵⁻⁷.

With the aim of contributing to better defining the natural history of BAG3-related MFM, we report here a Caucasian 16-year-old male patient with the p.Pro209Leu (c.626C > T) in exon 3 mutation and cardiomyopathy as first clinical sign associated with peripheral neuropathy and MFM due to BAG3 mutation.

Case report

The 16-year-old Caucasian male had a negative family history for neurological disease and normal physiological history. Developmental milestones were normal. At 4 years a heart murmur was discovered and cardiological examinations led to a diagnosis of hypertrophic obstructive cardiomyopathy (HOC). He started therapy with metoprolol. At 8 years, he was hospitalized for fatigability and gait abnormalities. Increased creatine kinase (583 U/L) was detected, and HOC was stable. A diagnosis of myositis was made. The symptomatology then improved, but he was referred to the Pediatric Neuromuscular Clinic for associated mildly clumsy gait. Genetic analysis for Friedreich's ataxia was negative. Neurological and neuromuscular examination at the age of 10 showed mild girdle and distal lower limb weakness (deltoids, biceps and triceps brachialis 4/5, tibialis anterior e peroneal muscles 4/5), pes cavus, rigid spine and ankle contractures with toe walking, positive Gower's sign and absence of deep tendon reflexes in upper and lower limbs. Romberg maneuver was positive. Creatine kinase was

178

increased (843 U/L). Nerve conduction study showed a severe sensory-motor axonal polyneuropathy with upper limbs motor conduction median nerve 37.5 m/s and ulnar nerve 40 m/s and slowed F wave. In the lower limbs, the compound motor action potential and the sensory action potential were not evocable.

Muscle biopsy revealed, on the hematoxylin and eosin staining, myopathic changes with marked fiber size variability, atrophic fibers occasionally angulated, abundant centrally placed nuclei, necrosis and mild increase in connective tissue (Fig. 1A). Type I fibers were predominant. Multiple small vacuoles were present in numerous fibers (asterisks, Fig. 1A) and eosinophilic areas were observed in the cytoplasm of many fibers (arrows, Fig. 1A), the same strongly reactive with the Gomori trichrome staining (arrows, Fig.1B). Immunofluorescence analyses revealed ectopic expression of different sarcomeric protein like such as alphaB-crystallin (Fig. 1C) and myotilin (Fig. 1D).

Ultrastructural analysis confirmed the presence of severe signs of myofibrillar disruption with accumulation of electron dense granulo-filamentous materials in the intermyofibrillar space (Fig. 1E, Z-disk streaming, Fig. 1F) and abnormal extension of electron dense Zbands (Fig. 1G).

Genetic analysis

LMNA, Desmin, alfaB-crystallin, myotilin e LDB3 genes didn't show mutations. We performed the analysis of an NGS panel that include 169 genes associated with neuromuscular conditions (MotorPlex) 8. Coverage was at least 50x for > 98% of target. We also included parents in the NGS study, and we discovered a single heterozygous mutation p.Pro209Leu (c.626C > T NM_004281.4) in exon 3 of BAG 3 gene. This variant is currently not listed in gnomAD, and it is predicted to be pathogenic according to the ACMG/AMP criteria confirming the diagnosis of BAG3-myopathy. It was a de novo mutation, absent in the parents.

At 4 years the electrocardiogram showed left atrial enlargement and left ventricle hypertrophy, while the echocardiogram showed hypertrophic obstructive cardiomyopathy with a peak left ventricular outflow tract (LV-OT) gradient of 50 mmHg; the interventricular septum thickness was 16 mm, the middle septum 17 mm, the posterior basal septum and the anterior basal septum18 mm. The systolic function was normal (left ventricle ejection fraction, EF: 50%), while in diastole the left ventricle had high filling pressure. Subsequently, during the follow-up period, the features of the cardiomyopathy changed, the LVOT obstruction disappeared, but the restrictive pattern worsened with increase in the filling pressure of the left ventricle. The cardiac catheterization showed slight post-



Figure 1. Morphological analyses of patient skeletal muscle tissue. **A)** hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) histological staining: protein inclusions and vacuoles indicated by arrows and asterisks, respectively (magnification 20x); **B)** trichrome Gomori staining: protein inclusions indicated by arrows (magnification 20x); **C,D)** immunofluorescence analyses with anti-alpha B crystallin(1C) and anti-myotilin (1D) antibodies showed protein aggregates inside the fibers (magnification 10x); **E-G)** ultrastructural analyses with Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM) showed abnormal myofibrillar structures and Z-disk streaming.

capillary pulmonary hypertension with mild increase in vascular pulmonary resistance.

At 11 years hypercapnic restrictive respiratory failure (paCO2 84 mmHg) occurred. Hospitalization in the Cardiological Intensive Care Unit and pulmonary assessment were necessary. Since then he needed non-invasive ventilation (NIV), first only at night, then also all day. Idebenone 600 mg/day was added to the therapy. At 16 years, standing is possible with support and he is able to walk with support for a few minutes. Kyphoscoliosis is very severe. He becomes tired very easily. The weight is 33 kilos. The EF of the left ventricle is 55%. Dysphagia is not present and speech is fluent. He presented an episode of acute congestive heart failure which was treated till the remission of the acute phase. His cognitive performances are very good.

Discussion

BAG3-related MFM is a rare condition, in most cases due to a *de novo* mutation, and causes severe symptoms with rapidly progressive muscle, nerve, respiratory and heart involvement. The heterozygous mutation p.Pro209Leu (c.626C > T) has previously been identified in several patients and seems to be particularly associated with a severe neuromuscular phenotype. Some variability in the onset and severity of the different symptoms seems to be, even if almost all pediatric cases reported in the literature have a negative prognosis, with quickly progressive worsening of cardiac and respiratory features until exitus, usually occurring within the second to third decade of life (Tab. I). Muscle pathology shows disrupted Zdisks, disorganization of sarcomeric structures, cytosolic aggregated proteins and ectopic accumulation of various myofibrillar proteins and organelles, sign of protein quality control (PQC) and proteolytic systems dysfunction ⁹. Studies on a zebrafish model of BAG3 P209L ¹⁰ demonstrated a relation between mutated BAG3, protein aggregates and autophagy (a degradation mechanism for damaged proteins in older cells) impairment. However, these studies revealed that mutated Bag3 maintained its function and did not cause protein aggregation but only myofibrillar disruption. Moreover, they demonstrated that aggregate formation was due to the gradual reduction of BAG3 availability caused by itself trapping inside the aggregate. Dysfunctional autophagy was reported in dilated cardiomyopathy due to BAG3 p.Pro209Leu mutation in patient cardiac tissue which demonstrated an increase in autophagy and mitophagy markers ¹¹.

The clinical phenotype in our patient is characterized by early onset HOC, early multiple contractures with rigid spine, non-severe proximal and distal weakness, severe axonal motor sensory neuropathy and severe progressive respiratory failure. Symptoms started with HOC at the age of 4 and the evolution of the clinical picture was initially relatively slow. A similar early onset of HOC is reported in other cases, while sometimes heart symptoms appear later, in the adolescence. In BAG3 mutated cases cardiomyopathy can be isolated and progressive and often leads to heart transplantation before the onset of other symptoms. Currently, at the age of 16, in our patient the cardiological picture shows stability of concentric ventricular hypertrophy with preserved global function. The role played by the treatment with idebenone is probably negligible and the involvement of oxidative metabolism in BAG3-related MFM has not been demonstrated to date. However, a favorable effect on a possible secondary mitochondrial dysfunction cannot be excluded. A possible explanation of the pathologic mechanisms underlying dilated cardiomyopathy in BAG3-related MFM is reported in a recent study of Mc Dermott-Roe et al.¹². Their data imply a pathologic mechanism in which BAG3-RH improperly engages HSC/HSP70: this impairs the formation of multimeric chaperone complexes required for essential protein quality control including, but likely not limited to, myofibrillar maintenance. The observation that fiber disorganization was only apparent when cells were forced to use autophagy suggests that BAG3 variant expressivity is influenced by age-related dynamics in protein quality control subsystem usage. This provides a potential explanation for the delayed onset of BAG3-associated dilated cardiomyopathy and heart failure, often characterized by an aggressive clinical course. Moreover, male sex, low left ventricular EF (< 50%) and increased left ventricular end-diastolic diameter at first evaluation seem associated with an adverse prognosis during follow-up ¹³. At 11 years our patient had acute respiratory failure and he began NIV. The worsening of the respiratory function is reported as an early symptom also in the other cases, and BAG3 myopathy has been demonstrated to meet pathologic criteria for hereditary myopathy with early respiratory failure (HMERF), an adult-onset autosomal-dominant myopathy, which typically presents with respiratory muscle weakness in patients who are still ambulant ¹³. On the other hand, in BAG3-related MFM multiple contractures and rigid spine may also be present early on and usually worsen with time. These findings may justify the restrictive respiratory failure that is reported in some cases as early onset symptom. Limb muscle weakness was symmetric and mild in our patient, more evident proximally, with mild deficit in distal districts, and unlike other reported cases, ambulation was still preserved with support at the follow-up, while scoliosis and respiratory involvement were severe.

In conclusion, it is important to hypothesize a neuromuscular disorder caused by BAG3 mutations in the presence of early onset HOC (first decade of life) and/or peripheral neuropathy and MFM for a correct diagnosis and to monitor cardiac and respiratory functions, which have usually a bad prognosis. Our case provides further evidence of progressive multisystem clinical involvement of BAG3-related MFM. Natural history studies of BAG3related MFM are necessary especially in case pharmacological treatments are to be identified, for example com-

Table I. Cases r	eports in th	ne literature.							
	Age at	Features at				Darinharal nau-	Res- niratory		RAG3
Reference	(years)	onset	Cardiomyopathy	Contractures	Weakness	ropathy	failure	Outcome	mutation
Odgerel et al., 2010	L	Not reported	Restrictive- hvoertronhic	Not reported	Xes Sec	Axonal neuronathv	Yes	Sudden death at 9 vears	1602A
			Restrictive- hypertrophic						
Odgerel et al., 2010	12	Not reported	heart transplantation	Not reported	Yes	Axonal neuropathy	Yes	Not ambulant	Pro209L
		pes cavus,	Doctrictio		Distal weakness				
	12	cardiopathy	hypertrophic	spine	weakness	neuropathy	Yes	years	novo Uovo
Odgerel et al.,		Gait	Restrictive- hypertrophic heart		Proximal	Axonal		Death at 15	P209L de
2010	5	disturbance	transplantation	Not reported	weakness	neuropathy	Yes	years	novo
Lee HC et al		Gait	Restrictive	Multiple contractures and	Mild proximal	Axonal	Not	Ambulant at	P209L de
2012	9	disturbance	hypertrophic	rigide spine	weakness	neuropathy	reported	12 years	DOVO
D'avila et al.,			Hypertrophic and		Proximal	Axonal		Not	P209L de
2016	11	Contractures	arhytmia	Rigide spine	weakness	neuropathy	Yes	ambulant	novo
Selcen et al.,		Too wollow	restrictive heart					not roportod	Not
2002			וומוואטומוונ				001		
Selcen et al.,		Scoliosis rigide spine,		Scoliosis and rigide	Uistal and proximal	Axonal demyelinating			Not
2009	13	fatigability	hypertrophic	spine	weakness	neuropathy	Yes	not reported	reported
				Scoliosis, rigide	Progressive				
Selcen et al.,	Toddler	Toe walker	Bestrictive	spine and toe walker	proximal weakness	Not reported	Yes	Death at 13 vears	Not renorted
				Multiple	Distal and			(
Jaffer et al.,			Restrictive-hearth	contractures and	proximal	Axonal	Not	Not	P209L de
2012	Toddler	Toe walker	transplantation	rigide spine	weakness	neuropathy	reported	ambulant	novo
				Multiple					
laffar at al				contractures, scoliosis and rigida	urstar arru provimal	lenov		Ambulant at	POOOL NO
2012	Toddler	Toe walker	Restrictive	spine	weakness	neuropathy	Yes	13,5 years	novo
Kostera		Toe walker	Restrictive	Rigide spine		Axonal			
Pruszczyk et	C T	and foot	(subclinical) long	and multiple	Subclinical	demyelinating	CN N	Ambulant at	Not renorted
al., 2010	L		2					ו ט עכמו א	ופאסוופת

BAG3-related myofibrillar myopathy: a further observation with cardiomyopathy at onset in pediatric age

Table I. Cases	reports in th	he literature.							
	Age at onset	Features at				Peripheral neu-	Res- piratory		BAG3
Reference	(years)	onset	Cardiomyopathy	Contractures	Weakness	ropathy	failure	Outcome	mutation
Konersman et	Not		restrictive heart			Sensory-motor	Not	Not	P209L de
al., 2015	reported	Cardiopathy	transplant	Rigide spine	Severe weakness	neuropathy	reported	ambulant	novo
		Gait							
		disturbance		Rigide spine					
Seung Ju Kim		and rigid		and multiple		Axonal		Not	P209L de
et al., 2018	11	spine	No	contractures	not reported	neuropathy	yes	reported	novo
						Axonal			
Noury et al.,	Not					sensory -motor	Not	Not	Not
2018	reported	Not reported	No	Rigide spine	not reported	neuropathy	reported	reported	reported
					Proximal				
				Multiple	weakness and				
			Restrictive-	contractures and	mild distal	Axonal		Ambulant	P209L de
Current report	4	Cardiopathy	hypertrophic	rigide spine	weakness	neuropathy	Yes	with support	novo

Gaia Scarpini et al.

pounds resulted able to removing protein aggregates such as metformin ¹⁴.

Ethical consideration

We confirm that we have read the Journal's position on issues involved in ethical publication and affirm that this report is consistent with those guidelines.

Acknowledgement

None.

Funding

None.

Conflict of interest

None of the authors has any conflict of interest to disclose.

Author contributions

GS wrote the manuscript. AP and MG visited the patient and collected clinical informations. AP coordinated the contributes of each co-Author to the paper. MLV performed muscle biopsy hystological and immunofluorescence analyses. MC performed muscle ultrastructural analyses. AT and VN performed NGS genetic analyses. LR performed cardiolgical assessment.

References

- Selcen D, Muntoni F, Burton BK, et al. Mutation in BAG3 causes severe dominant childhood muscular dystrophy. Ann Neurol 2009;65:83-89. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.21553
- ² Zagaa Odgerel, Sarkozy A, Lee H-S, et al. Inheritance patterns and phenotypic features of myofibrillar myopathy associed with a BAG3 mutation Neuromuscul Disord 2010;20:438-442 https://doi. org/10.1016/j.nmd.2010.05.004
- ³ D'Avila F, Meregalli M, Lupoli S, et al. Exome sequencing identifies variants in two genes encoding the LIM-proteins NRAP and FHL1 in an Italian patient with BAG3 myofibrillar myopathy. J Muscle Res Cell Motil 2016;37:101-115. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10974-016-9451-7
- ⁴ Noury J-B, Maisonobe T, Richard P, et al. Rigid spine syndrome associated with sensory-motor axonal neuropathy resembling Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease is characteristic of bcl-2-associated athanogene-3 gene mutations even without cardiac involvement. Muscle Nerve 2018;57:330-334. https://doi.org/10.1002/mus.25631
- ⁵ Konersman CG, Bordini BJ, Scharer G, et al. BAG3 myofibrillar myopathy presenting with cardiomyopathy Neuromuscular Disorders 2015;25:418-422. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nmd.2015.01.009

BAG3-related myofibrillar myopathy: a further observation with cardiomyopathy at onset in pediatric age

- ⁶ Fu J, Ma M, Song J, et al. BAG3 p.Pro209Ser mutation identified in a Chinese family with Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease. J Neurol 2020;267. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00415-019-09680-8
- ⁷ Selcen D. Myofibrillar myopathies. Neuromuscul Disord 2011;21:161-171. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nmd.2010.12.007
- ⁸ Savarese M, Di Fruscio G, Mutarelli M, et al. MotorPlex provides accurate variant detection across large muscle genes both in single myopathic patients and in pools of DNA samples. Acta Neuropathol Commun 2014;2:100. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40478-014-0100-3
- ⁹ Ruparelia AA, Oorschot V, Vaz R, et al. Zebrafish models of BAG3 myofibrillar myopathy suggest a toxic gain of function leading to BAG3 insufficiency. Acta Neuropathol 2014;128:821-833. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s00401-014-1344-5
- ¹⁰ Schänzer A, Rupp S, Graf S, et al. Dysregulated autophagy in restrictive cardiomyopathy due to Pro209Leu mutation in BAG3. Mol Genet Metab 2018;123:388-399. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ymgme.2018.01.001

- ¹¹ McDermott-Roe C, Lv W, Maximova T, et al. Investigation of a dilated cardiomyopathy-associated variant inBAG3 using genomeedited iPSC-derived cardiomyocytes. JCI Insight 2019;4:e128799. https://doi.org/10.1172/jci.insight.128799
- ¹² Domínguez F, Cuenca S, Bilinska Z, et al. Dilated Cardiomyopathy Due to BLC2-Associated Athanogene 3 (BAG3) Mutations. J Am Call Cardiol 2018;72:2471-2481. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jacc.2018.08.2181
- ¹³ Pfeffer G, Povitz M. Respiratory management of patients with neuromuscular disease: current perspectives. Degener Neurol Neuromuscul Dis 2016;6:111-118. https://doi.org/10.2147/DNND. S87323
- ¹⁴ Ruparelia AA, Mckaige EA, Williams C, et al. Metformin rescues muscle function in BAG3myofibrillar myopathy models. Autophagy 2020. https://doi.org/10.1080/15548627.2020.1833500 [Epub Ahead of Print]

Early treatment with Ataluren of a 2-year-old boy with nonsense mutation Duchenne dystrophy

Ilaria Bitetti¹, Cinzia Mautone¹, Marianna Bertella², Maria Rosaria Manna², Antonio Varone¹

¹ Pediatric Neurology, Santobono-Pausilipon Children's Hospital, Naples, Italy; ² Neurorehabilitation Unit, Santobono-Pausilipon Children's Hospital, Naples, Italy

Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD) is an X-linked myopathy caused by mutations, in most cases deletions and duplications, in the dystrophin gene. Point mutations account for 13% and stop codon mutations are even rarer. Ataluren was approved for the treatment of DMD caused by nonsense mutations in 2014, and several clinical trials documented its efficacy and safety. However, few reallife experience data is available, especially in pediatric age. We report the case of a 2-year- ambulant child affected by DMD caused by the stop-codon mutation c.10801C > T, p.Gln3601X in exon 76, who was early treated with Ataluren at a dosage of 40 mg/kg/die, and presented a rapid improvement in both muscle strength and cognitive and social skills.

Key words: ataluren, nmDuchenne dystrophy, stop codon point mutations, early treatment

Introduction

Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD) is an X-linked recessive muscular disease caused by mutations in the dystrophin gene, which is the most common muscle disorder in childhood. In most cases, the disease causing mutations are deletions and duplications, but in about 10-15% of cases, DMD is caused by nonsense mutations (nmDMD) in the gene that encodes for dystrophin, resulting in a premature stop codon in the mRNA that affects the production of a full-length functional protein¹. Clinically, the disease is characterised by progressive muscle weakness and atrophy due to the absence of a functional dystrophin, which results in premature death due to heart and respiratory failure ¹. Until few years ago, the treatment of DMD was mainly limited to corticosteroid therapy, which only mitigates the rate of muscle degeneration². In July 2014, the European Medicines Agency (EMA) approved Ataluren (Translarna® by PTC Therapeutics) for the specific treatment of nmDMD in walking patients aged 5 years and older. Ataluren enables ribosomal readthrough of mRNA containing premature stop codons allowing cellular machinery to bypass nonsense mutation in the genetic material, continue the translation process, and restore the production of a full-length functional protein³. In July 2018, the European Commission (EC) authorized the prescription of ataluren in younger nmD-MD patients aged two to five years⁴. The decision was supported by the results obtained in the clinical study 030, in which ataluren demonstrated a positive risk-benefit ratio in Duchenne patients of this age group.

Received: October 28, 2021 Accepted: December 11, 2021

Correspondence Antonio Varone Pediatric Neurology, Santobono-Pausilipon Children's Hospital, Naples, Italy. E-mail: antoniovarone@live.com

How to cite this article: Bitetti I, Mautone C, Bertella M, et al. Early treatment with Ataluren of a 2-year-old boy with nonsense mutation Duchenne dystrophy. Acta Myol 2021;40:184-186. https://doi. org/10.36185/2532-1900-062

© Gaetano Conte Academy - Mediterranean Society of Myology

OPEN ACCESS

This is an open access article distributed in accordance with the CC-BY-NC-ND (Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International) license. The article can be used by giving appropriate credit and mentioning the license, but only for non-commercial purposes and only in the original version. For further information: https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/deed.en In Italy, PTC has notified the Italian Medicines Agency AIFA of the activation of the expanded access therapeutic use program, following the Ministerial Decree 07/09/2017, for the use of ataluren in nmDMD ambulatory patients, aged between 2 and 5 years.

To date, numerous articles in the literature demonstrate both the efficacy and safety of Ataluren ^{5,6}; however, few real-life experience studies are available, especially in children. Herein, we report the results in the outcomes of a walking child affected by nmDMD who started the treatment with ataluren, at the age of 2.

Case report

A 3-month- old- baby came to our observation for the finding of increased values of Creatinekinase (CK, 5941 UI/L), CK-MB (243 ng/ml) and myoglobin (1857 ng/ml). The neurological examination was normal for age. Cardiological and pneumological investigations showed no alterations. NGS (Next Generation Sequencing) identified the stop-codon point mutation c.10801C > T; p.Gln3601X in exon 76, consistent with a diagnosis of nmDMD. In the follow-up, the mother reported delay in the acquisition of motor (autonomous ambulation acquired at 21 months) and language milestones. At the age of 21 months, the neurological examination revealed evidence of Gower's manoeuvre, but no calf pseudohypertrophy. The North Star Ambulatory Assessment (NSAA), administered to measure functional motor abilities, showed a total score of 10/34. The Bayley Scales of Infant and Toddler Development-Third Edition⁷, used for the neurocognitive evaluation, showed that the child had lower composite scores across all domains (see Table I). Laboratory tests confirmed elevated serum CK levels (15813 UI/L). Cardiological investigation showed only a bland patent foramen ovale. No therapy was prescribed. When the child turned 2 years old, an early treatment with ataluren was initiated, at a dosage of 750 mg/day (40 mg/ kg/day) according to EMA SmPC guideline ⁸. Eight months later, the neurological examination still showed waddling gait, slight proximal muscle weakness, reduced deep tendon reflexes, partial Gower maneuver and slight delay in global neurodevelopment. However, the patient's muscle strength, upper limb movements and motor skills in walking, jumping and running were significantly improved. NSAA showed a total score of 19/34. No change in heart function was observed, nor deterioration of respiratory function. Serum CK levels were persistently high (20753 UI/L). After 16 months from the beginning of the ataluren therapy, the child appears participant and able to walk and rise up on his own with negative Gower's sign. Gower's sign is a classic maneuver observed in children with DMD, that indicates weakness of the proximal lower limb muscles. Its negativization indicates a clear improvement in proximal lower limb muscle strength, not expected in the natural history of children with DMD. He still shows waddling gait but not reduced strength in the 4 limbs during repetitive or prolonged movements. Muscle trophism is good. He has discrete dynamic equilibrium, good bimanual manipulation of objects and only a slight weakness in the execution of fine movements. NSAA shows a further improvement in the total score: 21/34. Respiratory function assessed by dynamic night pulseoximetry does not show alterations. Cardiological visit and echocardiogram are normal. Cognitive, motor and language skills are also improved (Tab. I).

Discussion

We report the clinical follow-up of a child with nmDMD starting treatment with ataluren at 2 years. After 16 months of treatment, the patient showed an improvement in both motor and cognitive skills compared to the baseline evaluation. The disease progression in young boys affected by Duchenne muscular between age 3 and 6 years (\pm 3 months), using the NSAA scale was documented by Coratti et al. 9 in 153 DMD boys (573 assessments) younger than 6 years (mean: 4.68, SD: 0.84) with a genetically proven DMD diagnosis. They showed that NSAA scores progressively increased with age, the largest increase being between age 3 and 4 years. A further increase until age of 6 was steadily observed. They also observed that, irrespective of age and pharmacological treatment, DMD boys having a mutation between exon 44 and 62 presented reduced NSAA score by 0.64 points compared to those having a mutation before exon 44. Furthermore, having a mutation after exon 63 reduced NSAA score by 4.67 points compared to those having a mutation before exon 44 and of 4.03 points compared to mutations between exon 44 and 62. Our patient, of about 3.5 years, achieved an NSAA score of 21/34, much higher than the average observed at the same age in the Coratti cohort, both naive (13.64) and treated with steroids (16.33). The improvement is even more remarkable if we keep in mind

Table I. Bayley Scales of Infant and Toddler Development – Third Edition composite scores.

, ,		•	
	Cognitive	Language	Motor
Pre-therapy	80 (percentile 9°)	65 (percentile 1°)	73 (percentile 4°)
16 months after	85 (percentile 16°)	83 (percentile 13°)	79 (percentile 8°)

Ilaria Bitetti et al.

the mutation site (exon 76) for which, again according to the data of Coratti et al, a lower score of 4.67 points is expected. Our findings are in line with previous studies demonstrating efficacy of Ataluren in pediatric patients with nmDMD10. However, at our knowledge, this is the first time that the efficacy of the drug is documented in DMD boys less than 3 years. This observation has important clinical repercussions because the precocity of the treatment can radically modify the natural history of the disease ¹⁰.

Interestingly, serum CK levels were consistently high during the follow-up, with a peak after 8 months of treatment (20753 IU/L). This suggests that serum CK levels do not correlate with symptom's severity. Furthermore, the increase in CK levels could be explained with the increase in muscle mass and the improvement in motor performance. In conclusion, our data confirm the importance of an early diagnosis with gene analysis and sequencing, as an early initiation of the Ataluren treatment can help to prevent muscle degeneration and achieve better motorcognitive outcomes in children with nmDMD. Further studies in larger cohorts are needed, to better delineate the potential of Ataluren in very young nmDMD patients.

Ethical consideration

All procedures were in accordance with the standards of the bioethical committee and the Declaration of Helsinki.

Acknowledgement

The unconditional support for medical writer received by the Medical Affairs PTC Italia was greatly appreciated.

Funding

None.

Conflict of interest

The Authors declare that they have no financial or other conflicts of interest in relation to this research and its publication.

Author contributions

All Authors participated in data collection, review and modification of the project. IB and CM have provided substantial contributions to the analysis and interpretation of the data, to the critical review and to the drafting of the manuscript. All Authors approved the submission of the final manuscript and agreed to be responsible for all aspects of the work

References

- Bushby K, Finkel R, Birnkrant DJ, et al. Diagnosis and management of Duchenne muscular dystrophy, part 1: diagnosis, and pharmacological and psychosocial management. Lancet Neurol 2010;9:77-93. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(09)70271-6
- ² Pichavant C, Aartsma-Rus A, Clemens PR, et al. Current status of pharmaceutical and genetic therapeutic approaches to treat DMD. MolTher 2011;19:830-840. https://doi.org 10.1038/mt.2011.59
- ³ Welch EM, Barton ER, Zhuo J, et al. PTC124 targets genetic disorders caused by nonsense mutations. Nature 2007;447:87-91. https://doi.org 10.1038/nature05756
- ⁴ Haas M, Vlcek V, Balabanov P, et al. European Medicines Agency review of ataluren for the treatment of ambulant patients aged 5 years and older with Duchenne muscular dystrophy resulting from a nonsense mutation in the dystrophin gene. Neuromuscul Disord 2015;25:5-13. https://doi.org 10.1016/j.nmd.2014.11.011
- ⁵ Bushby K, Finkel R, Wong B, et al. Ataluren treatment of patients with nonsense mutation dystrophinopathy. Muscle Nerve 2014;50:477-487. https://doi.org 10.1002/mus.24332
- ⁶ McDonald CM, Campbell C, Torricelli RE, et al. Ataluren in patients with nonsense mutation Duchenne muscular dystrophy (ACT DMD): a multicentre, randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 3 trial. Lancet 2017;390:1489-1498. https://doi.org 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)31611-2
- ⁷ Yu YT, Hsieh WS, Hsu CH, et al. A psychometric study of the Bayley Scales of Infant and Toddler Development – 3rd Edition for term and preterm Taiwanese infants. Res Dev Disabil 2013;34:3875-3883. https://doi.org 10.1016/j.ridd.2013.07.006
- 8 EMA/423254/2018
- ⁹ Coratti G, Brogna C, Norcia G, et al. DMD Longitudinal natural history in young boys with Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Neuromuscul Disord 2019;29:857-862. https://doi.org 10.1016/j. nmd.2019.09.010
- ¹⁰ Ruggiero L, Iodice R, Esposito M, et al. One-year follow up of three Italian patients with Duchenne muscular dystrophy treated with ataluren: is earlier better? Ther Adv Neurol Disord 2018;11:1756286418809588. https://doi.org 10.1177/1756286418809588

NEWS FROM AROUND THE WORLD

AIM

In the period between October and December 2021 many of the activities were aimed at perfecting the organization of the XXI congress of the Association which took place in Milan, from 1 to 4 December in a mixed mode (online and in presence). The proceedings of the congress are published online in Acta Myologica, the official journal of the Association, and are available at the following website: www.actamyologica.it.

The Association promoted and sponsored the masterclass on *Congenital Myopathies* which took place on 12 November 2021 in digital mode and involved neurologists, pediatricians, child neuropsychiatrists, neonatologists, geneticists. Two webinars of great interest on the "*Management of Complexity in Neuromuscular Pathologies*" and "*The respiratory aspect in the neuromuscular patient in clinical and home care*" were respectively posted on the virtual platform since the 6 December 2021.

From 6 December 2021, the six national and the four regionals webinars were also been available online as asynchronous distance educations (further information is available at https://www.aim-fad2021.it/).

Prof. Carmelo Rodolico Secretary of Italian Association of Myology

MSM

Due to pandemics, the 14th Meeting of the Mediterranean Society of Myology (MSM) is moved to 2022. Proposals to organize and host the event are welcome.

WMS

The 26th WMS congress took place, as a virtual meeting between 20 and 24 September. The 5-day congress week has been an opportunity to catch up on the latest developments in neuromuscular diseases from around the world. Controversial debates, oral lectures and electronic poster presentations were planned through the virtual platform and a series of inspiring industry symposia on a dedicated day. The usual WMS 2021 Virtual Pre-Congress Teaching Course was held on the neuromuscular field. To learn more, please visit the congress website: https://www. wms2021.com

FORTHCOMING MEETINGS

2021

December 19-21

Stanford University 3rd Annual Spinal Muscular Atrophy Continuing Medical Education Conference on Clinical Decision-Making in the Midst of an Unfoldin. Virtual edition. Information: website: *https://stanford.cloud-cme.com*

2022

January 28-30

254th ENMC Workshop: Formation of a European network to initiate a European data collection, along with development and sharing of treatment guidelines for adult SMA patients. Information: website: https://www.enmc.org

February 11-12

262nd ENMC Workshop: Standards of Care for the Dysferlinopathies. Information: website: *https://www.enmc.org*

February 13-17

International Conference on Human Genetics. Cape Town, South Africa. Information: website: *https://www. ichg2022.com*

February 24-27

World Congress on osteoporosis, osteoarthritis and musculoskeletal diseases. Berlin, Germany. Information: website: https://wco-iof-esceo.org

March 11-13

260th ENMC Workshop: Congenital Myasthenic syndromes. Information: website: https://www.enmc.org

March 25-27

258th ENMC Workshop: Leigh syndrome. Information: website: https://www.enmc.org

April 28-May 2

14th European Paediatric Neurology Society Congress, Glasgow, UK. Information: website: https://www.epns.org

May 13-15

263rd ENMC Workshop: Focus on female carriers of dystrophinopathy: refining recommendations for prevention, diagnosis, surveillance and treatment. Information: website: *https://www.enmc.org*

June 10-12

257th ENMC Workshop: The 3rd ENMC workshop on Dystroglycan and the Dystroglycanopathies. Information: website: *https://www.enmc.org*

June 15-17

TREAT-NMD Conference 2022. Vancouver Convention Centre 1055 Canada PI, Vancouver, BC V6C 0C3, Canada. Information: website: *https://treat-nmdconference.org*

June 17-19

261st ENMC Workshop. Management of safety issues arising following AAV gene therapy. Information: website: *https://www.enmc.org*

June 24-26

253rd ENMC workshop. Skeletal muscle laminopathies – natural history and clinical trial readiness. Information: website: *https://www.enmc.org*

June 25-28

8th EAN Congress. Vienna, Austria. Information: website: https://www.ean.org

July 5-9

17th International Congress on NeuroMuscular Diseases (ICNMD). Brussel, Belgio. Information: website: *https:// www.icnmd.org*

September 13-15

7th Congress of Myology. Nice Acropolis, France. Information: website: Institut de Myologie *https://www. institut-myologie.org*

September 15-17

Mitochondrial Medicine Meeting. Nice Acropolis, France. Information: website: Institut de Myologie *https://www. institut-myologie.org*

October 11-15

27th Congress of World Muscle Society. Halifax, Canada. Information: website: *https://worldmusclesociety.org*

2023

July 1-4

9th EAN Congress. Budapest, Hungary. Information: website: https://www.ean.org

October 3-7

28th Congress of World Muscle Society. Charleston, USA. Information: website: *https://worldmusclesociety.org*

2024

June 29 - July 2

10th EAN Congress. Helsinki, Finland. Information: website: *https://www.ean.org*

October 8-12

29th Congress of World Muscle Society. Prague, Czech Republic. Information: website: *https:// worldmusclesociety.org*

2025

October 7-11 30th Congress of World Muscle Society. Vienna, Austria. Information: website: *https://worldmusclesociety.org*

For application or renewal to MSM

MEDITERRANEAN SOCIETY OF MYOLOGY* (MSM)

- V. Nigro, President
- H. Topaloglu, Past President
- L.T. Middleton, G. Siciliano, *Vice Presidents* K. Christodoulou, *Secretary*
- L. Politano, *Treasurer*
- L. FOIIIano, *neasu*

APPLICATION/RENEWAL FORM

Application/Renewal	for	1yr	2 yrs

Prof. Luisa Politano, Cardiomiologia e Genetica Medica, Primo Policlinico, piazza Miraglia, 80138 Napoli, Italy Fax: 39 081 5665101 E-mail: actamyologica@gmail.com • luisa.politano@unicampania.it Fax or Mail to the above address. Type or print.

Name		Degree(s)		
Last	First			
Department				
Institution				
Street Address				
City, State, zip, country				
Tel ()	Fax ()			
Area code	Area code			
* Amount pavable: 1 year Euro 100				

Amount payable:	1 year	Euro 100
	2 years	Euro 180

I enclose copy of the bank transfer to:

Bank name: Intesa San Paolo Bank address: via Toledo 177/178 Account holder: MSM-Mediterranean Society of Myology IBAN code: IT36 F030 6909 6061 0000 0160 879 BIC/SWIFT code (for foreign countries): BCITITMM

VOLUME XL - LIST OF REFEREES CONSULTED IN 2021

Angelini Corrado Banfi Paolo Innocente Bello Luca Bondi Danilo Bortolani Sara Crescimanno Grazia Devmeer Feza Diaz-Maneira Jordi Garuti Giancarlo Kakarountas Athanasios Limongelli Giuseppe Maggi Lorenzo Merlini Luciano Monforte Mauro Piluso Giulio Rodolico Carmelo Russo Vincenzo Sampaolo Simone Santorelli Filippo M. Savarese Marco Schoser Benedikt Vita Giuseppe

corrado.angelini@ospedalesancamillo.net pabanfi@dongnocchi.it luca.bello@unipd.it danilo.bondi@unich.it s.bortolani@gmail.com grazia.crescimanno@ibim.cnr.it fezadeymeer@gmail.com Jordi.diaz-manera@newcastle.ac.uk g.garuti@ausl.mo.it kakarountas@ieee.org giuseppe.limongelli@unicampania.it lorenzo.maggi@istituto-besta.it mrllcn@unife.it mauro.momnforte@gmail.com giulio.piluso@unicampania.it carmelo.rodolico@unime.it vincenzo.russo@unicampania.it simone.sampaolo@unicampania.it filippo3364@gmail.com marco.savarese@helsinki.fi Benedikt.Schoser@med.uni-muenchen.de giuseppe.vita@unime.it

INSTRUCTIONS FOR AUTHORS

Acta Myologica publishes articles related to research in and the practice of primary myopathies, cardiomyopathies and neuromyopathies, including observational studies, clinical trials, epidemiology, health services and outcomes studies, case report, and advances in applied (translational) and basic research.

Manuscripts are examined by the editorial staff and usually evaluated by expert reviewers assigned by the editors. Both clinical and basic articles will also be subject to statistical review, when appropriate. Provisional or final acceptance is based on originality, scientific content, and topical balance of the journal. Decisions are communicated by email, generally within eight weeks. All rebuttals must be submitted in writing to the editorial office.

Starting from 2020, a publication fee of 200 Euros is required. The Corresponding Author must fill in the appropriate form and send it with the corrected proofs. 50% off is offered for members of Associazione Italiana di Miologia (AIM) and/or Mediterranean Society of Myology (MSM) in good standing with dues. A copy of the payment receipt for the current year is mandatory to prove the membership).

On-line submission

Manuscript submission must be effected on line: www.actamyologica.it according to the following categories:

Original articles (maximum 5000 words, 8 figures or tables). A structured abstract of no more than 250 words should be included. *Reviews, Editorials* (maximum 4000 words for Reviews and 1600 words for Editorials). These are usually commissioned by the Editors. Before spontaneously writing an Editorial or Review, it is advisable to contact the Editor to make sure that an article on the same or similar topic is not already in preparation.

Case Reports, Scientific Letters (maximum 1500 words, 10 references, 3 figures or tables, maximum 5 authors). A summary of 150 words may be included.

Letters to the Editor (maximum 600 words, 5 references). Letters commenting upon papers published in the journal during the previous year or concerning news in the myologic, cardio-myologic or neuro-myologic field, will be welcome. All Authors must sign the letter. *Rapid Reports* (maximum 400 words, 5 references, 2 figures or tables). A letter should be included explaining why the author considers the paper justifies rapid processing.

Lectura. Invited formal discourse as a method of instruction. The structure will be suggested by the Editor.

Congress Proceedings either in the form of Selected Abstracts or Proceedings will be taken into consideration.

Information concerning new books, congresses and symposia, will be published if conforming to the policy of the Journal. The manuscripts should be arranged as follows: 1) Title, authors, address institution, address for correspondence; 2) Repeat title, abstract, key words; 3) Text; 4) References; 5) Legends; 6) Figures or tables. Pages should be numbered (title page as page 1). *Title page.* The AA are invited to check it represents the content of the paper and is not misleading. A short running title is also suggested.

Key words. Supply up to six key words. Wherever possible, use terms from Index Medicus – Medical Subject Headings. *Text.* Only international SI units and symbols must be used in the text. Tables and figures should be cited in numerical order as first mentioned in the text. Patients must be identified by numbers not initials.

Illustrations. Figures should be sent in .jpeg or .tiff format. Legends should be typed double-spaced and numbered with Arabic numerals corresponding to the illustrations. When symbols, arrows, numbers, or letters are used to identify parts of the illustrations, each should be explained clearly in the legend. For photomicrographs, the internal scale markers should be defined and the methods of staining should be given.

If the figure has been previously published a credit line should be included and permission in writing to reproduce should be supplied. Color photographs can be accepted for publication, the cost to be covered by the authors.

Patients in photographs are not to be recognisable

Tables. Tables should be self-explanatory, double spaced on separate sheets with the table number and title above the table and explanatory notes below. Arabic numbers should be used for tables and correspond with the order in which the table is first mentioned in the text.

References. Indicate all Authors, from 1 to 3. If their number is greater than 3, indicate only the first 3, followed by "et al.". Arabic numbers in the text must be superscript. References in the list must be numbered as they appear in the text, with the reference number superscript. **DOI number must be included with each reference** (when available). If not available, indicate the PMID number.

Examples of the correct format for citation of references:

Journal articles: Shapiro AMJ, Lakey JRT, Ryan EA, et al. Islet transplantation in seven patients with type 1 diabetes mellitus using a glucocorticoid-free immunosuppressive regimen. N Engl J Med 2000;343:230-238. doi.org/10.14639/0392-100X-1583 Books and other monographs: Dubowitz V. Muscle disorders in childhood. London: WB Saunders Company Ltd; 1978. Please check each item of the following checklist before mailing:

- Three-six index terms, short title for running head (no more than 40 letter spaces) on the title page.
- Name(s) of the author(s) in full, name(s) of institution(s) in the original language, address for correspondence with email address on the second page.
- Summary (maximum 250 words).
- References, tables and figures cited consecutively as they appear in the text.
- Figures submitted actual size for publication (i.e., 1 column wide or 2 columns wide).
- Copyright assignment and authorship responsibility signed (with date) by all Authors.
- References prepared according to instructions.
- English style.
- Patients in photographs not recognisable.